The Vault

https://prism.ucalgary.ca

Open Theses and Dissertations

2015-09-25

A 460 GHz CMOS Substrate-Integrated-Waveguide Slot Antenna

Xie, Hao

Xie, H. (2015). A 460 GHz CMOS Substrate-Integrated-Waveguide Slot Antenna (Master's

thesis, University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada). Retrieved from https://prism.ucalgary.ca. doi:10.11575/PRISM/24627 http://hdl.handle.net/11023/2499

Downloaded from PRISM Repository, University of Calgary

UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

A 460 GHz CMOS Substrate-Integrated-Waveguide Slot Antenna

by

Hao Xie

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

GRADUATE PROGRAM IN ELECTRICAL AND COMPUTER ENGINEERING

CALGARY, ALBERTA

SEPTEMBER, 2015

© Hao Xie 2015

Abstract

The design of the Cerro Chajnantor Atacama Telescope (CCAT) is progressing within the international astronomical community. This thesis examines the feasibility of using CMOS technology to implement a 460 GHz SIW slot antenna for the CCAT Heterodyne Array Instrument.

A 46GHz broadband high-gain SIW slot antenna was designed and tested to verify the SIW slot antenna design procedure. That design demonstrated good agreement between the simulated and measured results. The antenna has a measured gain of 7.8dBi at 46.2GHz and bandwidth of 4.72GHz. Then design of a 460GHz SIW antenna was conducted in a 65nm CMOS process. Several methods were used to simplify the design and sim-ulations: an inductor identification layer was introduced to minimize the design-rule re-strictions, and an equivalent dielectric layer was calculated to reduce the computational resource for 3D electromagnetic simulations. The proposed antenna has a gain of 0.09dBi, efficiency of 29.1% and bandwidth of 25.3GHz.

Acknowledgements

Foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to both my supervisor and cosupervisor: Dr. Leonid Belostotski and Dr. Michal Okoniewski, for their guidance throughout my masters studies. I appreciate Dr. Leonid Belostotski's vast experience in analog CMOS design and RFIC layout. I was able to develop my understanding in CMOS antenna design from his insight and advice. I also appreciate Dr. Michal Okoniewski's experience in the field of microwave and antenna. Without his guidance this project would not have been completed. In addition, I would like to thank both Dr. Leonid Belostotski and Dr. Michal Okoniewski for taking the time to read and edit my published work and look for the measurement equipment for my antenna testing.

This thesis would not have been possible if I could not ask people questions. Therefore, my foremost thanks go out to the ones who I hounded constantly with questions. Specifically, I would like to Billy Wu, Bushra Muharram, Evgueni Zailer, Ge Wu, Robbie Henry, Thomas Apperley and Zhixing Zhao for all of their time, patience and sharing their valuable experience.

In addition, these three years would not have been nearly as enjoyable if the individuals working with and beside me were not as kind, honest, knowledgeable. Thank you Donuwan Navaratne, Michael Himmelfarb, Mohammad Taghavi, Nan Zhang, Peyman Ahmadi and Vahid Asgari.

I also would like to thank Dr. Mike Potter for his suggestion on the group meeting.

I would like to thank the Canadian Microelectronics Corporation for providing the simulation software and the TMSC 65 nm design kit.

I would like to thank Dr. Dmitri Rozmanov, Doug S. Phillips and David Schulz for providing the permission to the HPC.

Most importantly, I would like to thank my family and wife. I would never have been able to finish my thesis without the support from them.

iii

For my parents and wife.

Thank you for your encouragement.

Table of Contents

Ab	ostrac	t	ii
Ac	know	ledgments	iii
De	edicat	ion	iv
Ta	ble of	f Contents	v
Lis	st of]	Fables	vii
Lis	st of I	Figures	viii
Gl	ossar	У	xi
1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Astronomy and Electromagnetic Spectrum	1
	1.2	Ground-Based Infrared and Submilimetre Telescopes	3
	1.3	CCAT and CCAT Heterodyne Array Instrument (CHAI)	4
	1.4	Thesis Goals	6
	1.5	Thesis Outline	6
2	Sele	ction of CMOS Compatible Antenna Topology	8
	2.1	Terahertz Antennas	8
		2.1.1 Antennas in CMOS Process	9
	2.2	SIW	10
	2.3	Slot Antenna	15
		2.3.1 Babinet's Principle	15
		2.3.2 Impedance of Longitudinal Slot Radiators	16
	2.4	Chapter Summary	19
3	46 G	Hz SIW Slot Antenna Design	20
	3.1	Brief Literature Review	20
	3.2	46 GHz SIW Slot Antenna Design	21
	3.3	Factors Improving the Antenna Gain	25
	3.4	Fabrication Tolerance Test	29
	3.5	Experimental Performance of the Antenna	31

	3.6	Conclusion	38
4	460	GHz CMOS SIW Slot Antenna Design	41
	4.1	65 nm CMOS Process Design-Rule Restrictions	41
	4.2	Antenna Design	47
	4.3	Simulation Results	55
	4.4	Loss Analysis	61
	4.5	Conclusion	69
5	Con	clusions, Contributions and Future Work	70
	5.1	Thesis Summary	70
	5.2	Contributions	71
	5.3	Future Work	72
A	Sum	mary of Dominant Mode (TE $_{10}$) of the Rectangular Waveguide	84

List of Tables

2.1	Comparison of different millimeter-wave and terahertz antennas	9
2.2	Comparison of on-chip antennas.	11
3.1	Comparison of SIW Antennas.	21
3.2	Antenna dimensions of the 46 GHz SIW slot antenna	24
3.3	Vias offset from original coordinates in the simulations	39
3.4	Performance summary and comparison of SIW antennas	40
4.1	Cutoff frequencies of the rectangular waveguide.	47
4.2	Antenna dimensions of the 460 GHz SIW slot antenna	56
4.3	Comparison of simulated on-chip antennas.	65
4.4	Efficiency and gain for different loss set-up SIW slot antenna	65
A.1	Summary of TE_{10} mode for rectangular waveguide	85

List of Figures

1.1	The electromagnetic spectrum, showing the gamma ray, x-ray, ultraviolet,	
	visible, infrared and radio bands	1
1.2	Atmospheric transmission across the electromagnetic spectrum	3
1.3	CCAT concept view at 5600 m Cerro Chajnantor, Chile. The image is taken	
	from CCAT website: www.ccatobservatory.org.	4
2.1	Geometry of a SIW	12
2.2	Surface current distribution of the TE_{10} mode in a rectangular waveguide	
	with vertical slots in its side wall	13
2.3	Plot of the amplitude of the electric field of the fundamental SIW mode	
	(TE_{10}) in HFSS	14
2.4	Babinet's Principle.	16
2.5	Electromagnetic field for TE_{10} mode of a rectangular waveguide	17
2.6	Longitudinal slot in a broad wall of rectangular waveguide equals to a shunt	
	impedance across the transmission line.	18
3.1	Configuration of a SIW.	22
3.2	Simulated S_{11} and S_{21} of the SIW	23
3.3	Excitation for the HFSS simulation.	23
3.4	Top view of the SIW slot antenna and the microstrip feedline	24
3.5	Simulated peak gain and radiation efficiency of the SIW slot antenna	25
3.6	Simulated radiation pattern for varying width of top metal at 46GHz. (a)	
	E-plane. (b) H-plane	26
3.7	Surface currents of the proposed antenna from HFSS	27
3.8	Simulated radiation pattern for varying width of the ground metal at 46 GHz.	
	(a) E-plane. (b) H-plane	28
3.9	Simulated reflection coefficients of the SIW antennas with different widths	
	of top metal	29
3.10	Top view of the simulation model for via fabrication tolerance. The black	
	square dot is the center of the original via	30
3.11	S_{11} of different via offset of the SIW slot antenna	31
3.12	Photographs of the fabricated SIW slot antenna. (a) Top view. (b) Back view.	32
3.13	Simulated and measured S_{11} of the antenna	33

3.14	Simulated and measured antenna gain from 43 GHz to 47 GHz. (a) Co-	
	polarization. (b) Cross-polarization.	34
3.15	Simulated and measured co-polarization radiation patterns at 46.2 GHz. (a)	
	E-plane. (b) H-plane.	36
3.16	Simulated and measured cross-polarization radiation patterns at 46.2 GHz.	
	(a) E-plane. (b) H-plane	37
3.17	The antenna with a connector and a short piece of coax cable simulated in	
	HFSS	38
11	A schematic cross section of TSMC 65 nm process. Different gravesale	
4.1	shows different dielectric constant for the dielectric lowers (D0 D24)	12
4.2	Shows different delectric constant for the delectric layers (D0-D34)	42
4.Z	(a) Levent of M1 lever with 208 square holes. (b) The inductor identifies	43
4.3	(a) Layout of WT layer with 500 square holes. (b) The inductor identifica- tion layer and 05 pieces of square dummy metals $(2 \mu m \times 2 \mu m specing)$	
	for layer and 95 pieces of square dummy metals $(5 \mu \text{m} \times 5 \mu \text{m})$, spacing	15
4.4	12μ m) med m the antenna	45
4.4	Cross section of the SIW slot enterne	40
4.5	Cross-section of the STW slot antenna	40
4.0	Simulated propagation constant (γ) of the TE ₁₀ and TE ₂₀ mode. The real	
	parts (attenuation constant α) are the lines with squares (TE_{10}) and cheres (TE_{10}) respectively. The imaginary parts (phase constant β) are the lines	
	(TE_{20}) , respectively. The imaginary parts (phase constant p) are the lines	10
17	with up triangles (TE_{10}) and down triangles (TE_{20}), respectively	40
4.7	Comparison the S of the SIW slot enterne with and without dialectric in	49
4.0	Comparison the S_{11} of the STW slot antenna with and without dielectric in the slot	50
4.0	The comparison of radiation patterns for slot enterns with and without di	50
4.9	algorization of radiation patients for slot antenna with and without di-	51
4 10	Simulated S of different elet lengths	51
4.10	Simulated S of different elet widths	52
4.11	Simulated S of different elet offerete	55
4.12	Simulated and theoretical impedance of the proposed SIW	55
4.13	Comparison of S., for the SIW slot enterne with and without "dummy"	55
4.14	Comparison of S_{11} for the STW slot antenna with and without dummy	57
1 15	Multi dialactria layors can be equivalent to a series combination of capacitors	57
4.13	Simulated S, parameters of 30 layers and an equivalent dialoctric layer	51
4.10	Simulated of S ₁ , for antennas with both 20 dialactric layers and on active	20
4.1/	lont dielectric lover	50
		59

4.18	Radiation patterns of the proposed antenna at 460 GHz. (a) E-plane radia-	
	tion pattern. (b) H-plane radiation pattern.	60
4.19	Simulated radiation efficiency and the peak gains of the proposed antenna	
	for both co-polarization and cross-polarization.	61
4.20	Surface currents distribution of the top metal	62
4.21	Antenna model and 3D radiation pattern from HFSS	63
4.22	Simulated S_{11} of the SIW slot antenna with and without silicon substrate	
	underneath	64
4.23	Comparison of simulated radiation patterns for antenna only and antenna	
	with CMOS substrate model. (a) E-plane. (b) H-plane	66
4.24	(a) M2 layer model from HFSS. The dark squares are holes in M2, which	
	are $10\mu\text{m} \times 10\mu\text{m}$. Vias connecting M1 and M2 are in horizontal rows,	
	which are $3\mu m \times 3\mu m$. (b) Both M1 and M2 layers model from HFSS.	
	The white squares are holes in M1, and the dark squares are holes in M2.	
	Both are also $10 \mu\text{m} \times 10 \mu\text{m}$	68
A.1	(a) Field lines for TE_{10} mode of a rectangular waveguide. (b) Surface cur-	
	rents for TE_{10} mode of a rectangular waveguide	86

List of Symbols and Abbreviations

Symbol	Definition
α	Attenuation Constant
ALMA	The Atacama Large Millimeter/Submillimeter Array
β	Phase Constant
С	Capacitance
С	Speed of Light in Vacuum
CCAT	Cerro Chajnantor Atacama Telescope
CHAI	CCAT Heterodyne Array Instrument
CMOS	Complementary Metal Oxide Semiconductor
\mathcal{E}_0	Electric Permittivity of Free Space
\mathcal{E}_r	Relative Electric Permittivity
E-ELT	The European Extremely Large Telescope
η	Intrinsic Impedance
f_c	Cutoff Frequency
γ	Propagation Constant
GMT	The Giant Magellan Telescope
HFSS	High-Frequency Structure Simulator
HPC	High Performance Computer
HPBW	Half-Power Beam Width
IRTF	Infrared Telescope Facility
JCMT	The James Clerk Maxwell Telescope
k	Wave Number
К	Kelvin

λ_0	Wavelength in Free Space
λ_g	Guided Wavelength
LTCC	Low-Temperature Co-fired Ceramic
μ_0	Permeability of Free Space
PCB	Printed Circuit Board
PEC	Perfect Electric Conductor
R_s	Sheet Resistance
ρ	Resistivity
σ	Conductivity
S ₁₁	Scattering Parameter at Port 1 From Port 1
S ₂₁	Scattering Parameter at Port 2 From Port 1
SiGe	Silicon-Germanium
SIW	Substrate-Integrated Waveguide
SPT	The South Pole Telescope
$tan\delta$	Loss Tangent
TE	Transverse Electric
TM	Transverse Magnetic
TMT	The Thirty Meter Telescope
TSMC	Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing Company
UKIRT	UK Infrared Telescope
VNA	Vector Network Analyzer
Z_0	Characteristic Impedance
Z_{SIW}	Characteristic Impedance of SIW

Chapter 1

Introduction

Human beings have always been fascinated by and never stopped observing and discovering the Universe. Many legends from both east and west about what the Universe looks like and how it was created show humans' curiosity with the Universe. From Stonehenge to the great Pyramids, from the native North American structures at Chaco Canyon in New Mexico to the mysterious mounds of Bronze Age Britain, it is clear that the Universe, and the sky, was important to humanity. The observational astronomy is a branch of science dealing with collecting data pertaining to various aspects of the Universe evolution. Observational astronomy is continuously benefited and even at times revolutionized by new developments in astronomical instrumentation. Since Galileo Galilei improved the telescope and implemented it into the astronomical observation instrument, the development of observational astronomy has been accelerating.

1.1 Astronomy and Electromagnetic Spectrum

Observational astronomy is subdivided into regions of the electromagnetic spectrum: the radio astronomy, infrared astronomy, optical astronomy, ultraviolet astronomy, X-ray astronomy and gamma-ray astronomy. These regions as part of the electromagnetic spectrum are illustrated in Figure 1.1. The visible band stretches from wavelength $0.4 \,\mu$ m to $0.7 \,\mu$ m,



Figure 1.1: The electromagnetic spectrum, showing the gamma ray, x-ray, ultraviolet, visible, infrared and radio bands.

and the infrared band starts from $0.7 \,\mu\text{m}$ to 1 mm. The infrared band is so broad that it is often subdivided into a near infrared $(0.7 - 3 \,\mu\text{m})$ band, a mid-infrared $(3 - 30 \,\mu\text{m})$ band, a far infrared $(30 - 200 \,\mu\text{m})$ band, and a submillimetre $(200 - 1000 \,\mu\text{m})$ band [1].

The infrared radiation was first discovered by William Herschel in 1800 [2–4]. However, infrared astronomy progressed extremely slowly for the next 150 years. Jansky's discovery of the radiation from the Milky Way in 1933 is seen as the birth of the new science of radio astronomy [5, 6]. X-ray astronomy began in 1948 with the first detection x-rays from the Sun by using a captured German V2 rocket [7]. The father of submillimetre astronomy was Frank Low, who invented the gallium-doped germanium bolometer in 1961 [8,9].

Optical astronomy mainly studies the surface of the stars and nearby gas ionized by those stars where the temperature brings thermal radiation into the visible range. X-ray astronomy deals with much hotter regions, where temperatures reach 1 million to 100 million degrees Kelvin (K). Infrared astronomy studies the cool universe, where the temperatures are in the range 3K (at the wavelength of 1 mm) to 1000K (at the wavelength of $3\,\mu$ m) [1]. The average temperature of the Earth in 2013 according to NASA is 288K $(15^{\circ}C)$. Therefore, the main radiation from the Earth is in the infrared band, which makes the sky extremely bright in the infrared making astronomical observations difficult. This is one reason why the infrared astronomy progressed slowly. Another two reasons are the slow technological development and a very strong absorption of the Earth's atmosphere. Strong absorbers such as water and carbon dioxide molecules attenuate infrared and submillimetre radiation significantly, and very little of it reaches the ground. The atmospheric transmission across the electromagnetic spectrum is illustrated in Figure 1.2. To improve the atmospheric transmission and reduce the attenuation of the incoming radiation, a high and dry location, like a mountain top, is preferred for an astronomical observatory especially for infrared and submilimetre astronomy [10].



Figure 1.2: Atmospheric transmission across the electromagnetic spectrum.

1.2 Ground-Based Infrared and Submilimetre Telescopes

From the late 1970s, large near infrared and submillimetre telescopes were built on high altitude sites, especially on the 4200 m dormant volcanic peak of Mauna Kea, Hawaii. Such telescopes include the United Kingdom's 3.8-metre Infrared Telescope (UKIRT), NASA's 3-metre Infrared Telescope Facility (IRTF) and so on. The South Pole Telescope (SPT) is a 10m diameter telescope at the 2800m altitude Antarctic Plateau, which was designed for conducting large-area millimetre and sub-millimetre wave surveys of faint, low contrast emission [11]. The James Clerk Maxwell submillimetre telescope (JCMT), operated by a partnership among Canada, United Kingdom, and the Netherlands, is currently the largest single-dish telescope (diameter of 15 m) designed specifically to operate in the submillimetre region located at an altitude of 4092 m Mauna Kea, Hawaii [12,13]. The Atacama Large Millimeter/Submillimeter Array (ALMA) is the largest astronomical project in existence, composed of 66 high precision antennas located on the Chajnantor plateau, 5000 m altitude in northern Chile [14–16]. Some other ground-based telescopes are in an advanced stages of planing, with parts of their construction already under way: the European Extremely Large Telescope (E-ELT) with a mirror diameter of 39m [17], the Thirty Meter Telescope (TMT) [18], the Giant Magellan Telescope (GMT) consisting of seven 8.4-metre-diameter telescopes [19], and the Cerro Chajnantor Atacama Telescope (CCAT) [20].



Figure 1.3: CCAT concept view at 5600 m Cerro Chajnantor, Chile. The image is taken from CCAT website: www.ccatobservatory.org.

1.3 CCAT and CCAT Heterodyne Array Instrument (CHAI)

CCAT will be a next-generation, 25 m diameter single dish telescope operating in the 2 to 0.2 mm wavelength range that will enable a broad range of astronomical studies, particularly those focused on the origins of stars, galaxies, and galaxy clusters. CCAT will be located at 5600 m altitude on Cerro Chajnantor in northern Chile [21, 22], where submillimetre observing conditions are better than on the 5000 m altitude of Chajnantor plateau where ALMA is located [23]. Figure 1.3 shows the concept view of the CCAT observatory at Cerro Chajnantor.

CCAT is presently a joint project between a number of countries and organizations:

Cornell University, Caltech, the University of Colorado at Boulder, the University of Cologne and the University of Bonn, McGill University, McMaster University, the University of British Columbia, the University of Calgary, the University of Toronto, the University of Waterloo, Dalhousie University, the Western University, and Associated Universities, Inc.

The initial plan for facility instruments for CCAT includes two large format bolometer cameras: a 32000-pixel short submillimetre $(200 - 650 \,\mu\text{m})$ camera using transition edge sensed bare bolometer arrays, and a 45000-pixel long wavelength camera $(850 \,\mu\text{m} - 2 \,\text{mm})$ that uses slot dipole antenna coupled bolometer array [21]. Spectrometers, both direct detection and heterodyne, are also under consideration [22]. A 57160-pixel Short Wavelength Camera (SWCam) for CCAT was presented in [24], which consisted of 7 sub-cameras: 4 subcameras at $350 \,\mu\text{m}$, 1 at $450 \,\mu\text{m}$, 1 at $850 \,\mu\text{m}$, and 1 at $2 \,\text{mm}$ wavelengths. A design of a Long Wavelength Camera (LWCam), the long-wavelength imaging camera for CCAT, was proposed in [25]. LWCam will provide a 20' field-of-view with background-limited sensitivity in six bands: $750 \,\mu\text{m}$, $850 \,\mu\text{m}$, 1 mm, 1.3 mm, 2 mm, and 3 mm. A result of a design study for a multi-beam X-Spec survey spectrometer covering $190 - 520 \,\text{GHz}$ under development for CCAT was presented in [26].

CCAT Heterodyne Array Instrument (CHAI) [27] is also one of the first-light instruments for CCAT, which has two 64-pixel cameras for high resolution heterodyne spectroscopy. Specifically, CHAI is a modular, dual-frequency band array receiver covering 460 GHz and 830 GHz for simultaneous observations with 64 – pixel arrays each, which is larger than any of the heterodyne array instruments currently in operation. The development of CHAI involves many countries and organizations: Universities of Cologne, University of Bonn (Germany), Cornell University, California Institute of Technology, and Jet Propulsion Laboratory (JPL) (US), University of Calgary, and University of Waterloo (Canada).

1.4 Thesis Goals

The subject of this thesis is an evaluation of the possibility of building a CMOS antenna for the CHAI to serve as either a feeding structure to a more traditional horn antenna, or to replace the horn antenna. So far, a design of a 470 GHz horn antenna¹ for CHAI was reported in [28], which presented a smooth-walled horn design. This antenna has a gain of 31.3 dBi. The horn is 46 mm long with an aperture diameter of 12.8 mm. The size of the horn and its gain are larger than what would be possible to fabricate in CMOS process. Therefore, it is not expected that the CMOS antenna could outperform the horn on its own but the integration of smaller CMOS antennas with the rest of the receiver circuitry on a single integrated circuit (IC) could significantly increase the number of CHAI pixels and compensate for lower gain of each individual antenna.

This thesis sets out to develop a front-end antenna on CMOS process. This work is a pilot project to investigate the feasibility of designing a 460 GHz on-chip antenna with the purpose of integrating with entire CHAI receiver on the same IC. While this work is not officially a part of CCAT CHAI development, it may provide alternatives to cost-effective implementation of CHAI.

In addition, due to limitations of our laboratory equipment at the start of the project, it would have been impossible to measure a 460 GHz antenna. Therefore, a 46 GHz antenna, which is a down-scaled prototype of the 460 GHz antenna, was designed, fabricated, and measured first for a verification of the design concept [29]. The 460 GHz antenna was also designed but not fabricated.

1.5 Thesis Outline

The rest of this thesis is structured as follows:

• Chapter 2 gives the relevant background information on the substrate-integrated waveg-

¹Note that CHAI frequency range has not been finalized yet and therefore slightly different frequencies have been selected by different groups.

uides (SIW) and slot antennas and discusses CMOS and printed circuit-board (PCB) antennas previously designed by others.

- Chapter 3 proposes a design of a 46 GHz SIW slot antenna and presents simulated and measured results.
- Chapter 4 presents a 460 GHz SIW slot antenna based on a 65 nm CMOS process.
- Chapter 5 provides conclusions, contributions, and suggestions for future work.

Chapter 2

Selection of CMOS Compatible Antenna Topology

This chapter describes the selection procedure of an antenna technology, which can be integrated on a CMOS integrated circuit (IC) and which has the promise of having high efficiency and gain. After a literature review of the properties of commonly used terahertz (THz) antennas in Section 2.1 and a review of previously published CMOS-integrated millimeter-wave and THz antenna designs in Subsection 2.1.1, a substrate-integrated-waveguide (SIW) slot antenna is selected for this thesis. A SIW and the slot antenna are discussed in more details in Sections 2.2 and 2.3. Section 2.2 begins with a short review of the advantages of SIWs, explains the propagation modes supported by the SIW, and gives an expression for calculating the effective width of the equivalent rectangular waveguide. Next Section 2.3 introduces the slot antenna. In Section 2.3.1 the Babinet's Principle is presented. Section 2.3.2 explains how a slot antenna operates and gives an expression for calculation of the impedance of a longitudinal slot radiator.

2.1 Terahertz Antennas

Generally, THz antennas can be made through the dimensional scaling of their low-frequency counterparts. However, the fabrication process and use of materials can be quite different. Table 2.1 lists the comparison of the distinct properties of the most commonly used THz antennas [30]. Some other antennas may also be designed as THz antenna, but not included in the Table 2.1. For example, dipole and dielectric resonator (DR) antennas, which will be demonstrated in the next subsection. The 460GHz antenna discussed in this thesis is expected to be implemented in a standard CMOS process, which narrows down the candidates of antennas: only slot array, patch and dipole antennas can be fabricated on a CMOS process.

	Reflector	Slot array	Horn	Dielectric integrated lens	Patch
Frequency	Any	$< 0.5\mathrm{THz}$	$< 1 \mathrm{THz}$	Any	$< 0.1 \mathrm{THz}$
Gain	High++	High	Average	Low+	Low
Bandwidth	Wide-	Narrow	Wide	Average	Narrow
Cost	High++	High	Average+	Low+	Low
Fabrication	Difficult+	Average	Difficult	Easy+	Easy
Size	Large++	Large+	Average	Small	Small
Weight	Heavy++	Average	Average++	Light	Light

 Table 2.1: Comparison of different millimeter-wave and terahertz antennas [30].

2.1.1 Antennas in CMOS Process

On-chip antennas are an essential building block in realizing fully integrated transceivers. However, achieving high efficiency and high gain is rather challenging. CMOS on-chip antennas with the operating frequencies from 24 GHz to THz will be demonstrated next and summarized in Table 2.2.

[31] reported a 24GHz dipole fabricated on a 2-inch wafer with copper metallization process, which achieved $-17 \,\text{dB}$ impedance bandwidth from 20GHz to 30GHz and a gain of $-8 \,\text{dBi}$. Inverted-F and Yagi antennas operating at 60GHz with efficiency below 10% and gain below $-10 \,\text{dBi}$ were reported in [32–34]. A 60GHz SIW integrated high-gain horn antenna fed by co-planar waveguide (CPW) [35] with CMOS-compatible micro-fabrication steps achieved a gain of 14.6 dBi. However, the area of the horn is more than 500 mm². Another 60GHz 0.13 μ m CMOS patch antenna, which has a peak gain of $-3.32 \,\text{dBi}$, efficiency of 15.9%, and size of $1220 \,\mu$ m × 1580 μ m, was reported in [36]. Two 60GHz CMOS dipole antennas with measured gain around $-7 \sim -9 \,\text{dBi}$ (far below the simulated gain) were reported in [37] and [38].

On-chip DRAs, which are dielectric resonators attached on a CMOS IC with opera-

tion frequency below 150 GHz, were reported in [39–43]. Placing the dielectric resonator precisely on such tiny IC chip is a challenge. The simulation in [44] indicated that placing a 12 mm diameter hemispherical quartz lens on a 90 GHz CMOS elliptical slot antenna could increase the antenna efficiency from 7% to 30%, bandwidth from 3.1% to 4.4% and gain form -5.7 dBi to 15 dBi. A 140 GHz tapered slot antenna fabricated in a 65 nm CMOS process was presented in [45]. This antenna has a gain of -25 dBi and occupies $180 \,\mu\text{m} \times 100 \,\mu\text{m}$ of die area. A 270 GHz circular-polarized SIW antenna with corner slots [46] was shown to have a broadside radiation pattern with a gain of -0.5 dBi and a radiation efficiency of 21.4%, when designed in a 65 nm CMOS process occupying an area of 0.17 mm². A 410 GHz CMOS patch antenna with a simulated directivity of 5 and efficiency of 22% was presented in [47]. A 434 GHz SIW slot antenna with a transmitter/receiver chip-set was fabricated in SiGe BiCMOS process, which had a simulated gain of -0.55 dBi and efficiency of 49.8% [48]. Another 0.54 THz CMOS planar dipole antenna with a simulated gain of 1.33 dBi and efficiency of 28% was reported in [49].

Overall, the patch, dipole, Yagi, and Inverted-F antennas have lower gain and efficiency than other antennas. Although the dielectric resonator and lens antennas have high efficiency, they require post-processing to attach them onto a CMOS IC, thus increasing the fabrication complexity and cost. Only slot antenna appears as a good candidate for this project. Therefore a slot antenna feed by means of a SIW is selected in the thesis.

2.2 SIW

Over the last decades, the constantly increasing demands for more and more compact electronics devices and for more and more broadband radio communications services have been nudging their implementations to ever higher frequency bands. To keep up with this frequency increase, new technologies are required that can operate at high frequencies. The substrate integrated waveguide (SIW) technology is one of the new emerging technologies, which has been developed rapidly for use in millimetre-wave (mm-wave) and terahertz

Ref.	Process	Antenna Type	Frequency (GHz)	-10 dB BW (GHz)	Gain (dBi)	Efficiency	Chip Size (mm ²)
[31]	CMOS Compatible	Dipole	24	20-30*	-8	NA	1.53
	Back End of	Inverted-F	61	55-67.5	-19	3.5%	0.38
[32]	Line	Quasi-Yagi	65	55-65	-12.5	5.6%	0.55
[33]	0.18μm CMOS	Yagi	60	55-65	-10	10%	1.05
[34]	0.18μm CMOS	Inverted-F	60	55-65	-15.7	10%	0.58
[35]	CMOS Compatible	SIW Horn	60	56.9-63.2	14.4	NA	518
[36]	0.13μm CMOS	Patch	60	0.81	-3.3	15.9	1.93
[37]	90 nm CMOS	Dipole	60	58-70	-7	4.6%	0.35
[39]	CMOS	DRA	135	126-144	3.7	62%	0.63
[40]	0.18μm CMOS	DRA	130	123-137	4.7	43%	0.72
[44]	0.13μm CMOS	Elliptical Slot	90	90-93	-5.7	7%	2.25
	With Diel	ectric Lens	90	89-91	15	30%	NA
[45]	65 nm CMOS	Tapered Slot	140	NA	-25	NA	0.02
[46]	65 nm CMOS	Circular- Polarized SIW	270	251.5- 283.6	-0.5	21.4%	0.17
[47]	45 nm CMOS	Patch	410	NA	0.41	22%	0.04
[48]	0.13μm SiGe BiCMOS	SIW Slot	434	~15	-0.55	49.8%	0.11
[49]	40 nm CMOS	Dipole	540	NA	1.33	28%	0.05
	CMOS	Bowtie Slot	90	NA	-1.5	NA	1.26
	CMOS	Slot	140	136-141	-1.4	NA	0.72
[50]	CMOS	SIW Slot	140	NA	-1	NA	1.2
	CMOS	Patch	140	138-148	-2	NA	0.49
[51]	0.18μm SiGe BiCMOS	Patch	65	62-65	NA	NA	2.21

 Table 2.2: Comparison of on-chip antennas.

* –17 dB bandwidth



Figure 2.1: Geometry of a SIW.

(30-10000 GHz) frequency ranges [30, 52].

Figure 2.1 shows a typical geometry of a SIW when implemented on a PCB with some of its critical dimensions are: height h, width w, via diameter d, and via spacing p. A SIW is an integrated rectangular waveguide-like structure, which is synthesized in planar form by using rows of conducting vias or slots embedded in a dielectric substrate with the metalized top and bottom broadside walls [53]. In this way, the non-planar rectangular waveguide can be made in planar form, making it compatible with existing planar process, such as printed circuit board (PCB) and low-temperature co-fired ceramic (LTCC) processes. The intrinsic advantages of the planar circuits are numerous: small size, low weight, low cost, relatively simple manufacturing processes, accurate implementation, and ease of mass production. Whereas, most traditional planar circuits lack the high power carrying capacity and high-frequency quality-factors of conventional waveguides, SIWs not only preserve the advantages of planar circuits but also keep most of the advantages associated with conventional waveguides: electromagnetic shielding (eliminating radiation losses), low insertion loss, high power carrying capacity and high quality-factor. The most significant advantage of SIW technology is ease of integrating all components on the same substrate.



Figure 2.2: Surface current distribution of the TE_{10} mode in a rectangular waveguide with vertical slots in its side wall.

The propagation characteristics of a SIW is similar to that of rectangular waveguides. A SIW can be seen as a special rectangular waveguide filled with dielectric substrate and with some slots created by vias along its side walls. Figure 2.2 shows surface current distribution of the TE₁₀ mode in a rectangular waveguide with vertical slots in its side wall. As can be seen, the vertical slots do not interrupt the surface currents of the TE₁₀ mode. Thus, TE₁₀ mode can propagate in the SIW. The higher TE_{m0} modes have similar surface current distribution and therefore TE_{m0} modes can propagate in SIW (m = 1, 2, ...) as well. However TM modes produce longitudinal surface currents, which are interrupted by the presence of vertical slots, and hence TM modes would cause significant amount of radiation through side walls and these modes cannot be supported. Similarly, the same situation happens for TE_{mn} modes, for $n \neq 0$. As a result, only TE_{m0} modes (m = 1, 2, ...) can propagate in SIW. A plot of the amplitude of the electric field of the dominant mode (TE₁₀) simulated at 46 GHz in HFSS is presented in Figure 2.3. It illustrates how the



Figure 2.3: Plot of the amplitude of the electric field of the fundamental SIW mode (TE_{10}) in HFSS.

electric field intensity varies across the SIW. The fields are depicted as a grayscale map using white for maximum intensity and traversing to black for minimum field intensity. As can be seen, the radiation leakage can be neglected when the vias are closely spaced. A summary of propagation properties of the dominant mode (TE_{10}) in the rectangular waveguide is shown in Appendix A.

Due to the similarity between a SIW and a rectangular waveguide, an empirical relationship for calculation of the effective width w_{eff} of the rectangular waveguide was proposed in [54] as

$$w_{eff} = w - 1.08 \frac{d^2}{p} + 0.1 \frac{d^2}{w}$$
(2.1)

where *w* is the width of SIW, *d* is the diameter of via and *p* is their longitudinal spacing as shown in Figure 2.1. It was also demonstrated that when p/d < 3 and d/w < 1/5, Equation 2.1 is very accurate [54]. From Equation 2.1, it is clear that the width of the rectangular waveguide is a little smaller than that of SIW.

Given a SIW with its w, d and p, the width of the equivalent rectangular waveguide

can be obtained. Sometimes a SIW needs to be transferred from a rectangular waveguide, where w is needed by transferring the Equation 2.1 to

$$w = \frac{w_{eff} + 1.08\frac{d^2}{s} + \sqrt{\left(w_{eff} + 1.08\frac{d^2}{s}\right)^2 - 0.4d^2}}{2}$$
(2.2)

Therefore, a design based on a rectangular waveguide can be easily transferred to SIW by using Equation 2.2.

2.3 Slot Antenna

A slot antenna is one of many aperture antennas, with the rectangular slot being one of the most common omnidirectional microwave antennas. Slot antennas often combine the feeding and radiating structures together by placing the slots in the wall of a waveguide, such as a SIW. The following subsections explain the principle of slot antenna operation.

2.3.1 Babinet's Principle

Babinet's Principle states that when a field behind a screen with an opening is added to the field of a complementary structure, then the sum is equal to the field where there is no screen [55]. H.G. Booker extended Babinet's Principle from optics to radio frequencies [56] by showing that the slot has the same radiation pattern as a dipole of the same dimensions as the slot but with its E-field and H-field are swapped as illustrated in Figure 2.4. In other words, a slot appears as a magnetic dipole rather than an electric dipole. As a result, its polarization is rotated 90°. Thus, the radiation from a vertical slot is polarized horizontally. For example, a vertical slot has the same radiation pattern as a horizontal dipole of the same dimensions. Therefore, a longitudinal slot in the broad wall of a rectangular waveguide radiates like a dipole perpendicular to the slot in the same plane.

Moreover, Booker's extension of Babinet's Principle can be used to find a complemen-



Slot

Figure 2.4: Babinet's Principle.

tary impedance of the slot from:

$$Z_{slot}Z_{dipole} = \frac{\eta^2}{4} \tag{2.3}$$

$$\eta = \sqrt{\frac{\mu}{\varepsilon}} \tag{2.4}$$

where Z_{slot} and Z_{dipole} are input impedances of the slot and dipole antennas, respectively, η is the intrinsic impedance of the media in which the structure is immersed, and μ and ε are the permeability and permittivity of the media respectively.

2.3.2 Impedance of Longitudinal Slot Radiators

A longitudinal slot cut into the broad wall of a waveguide interrupts the transverse current flowing in the wall, which forces the current to travel around the slot thereby introducing



Figure 2.5: Electromagnetic field for TE_{10} mode of a rectangular waveguide.

an electric field in the slot. The position of the slot in the waveguide determines the current flow. Therefore, the position determines the impedance presented to the transmission line and the amount of energy coupled to the slot and radiated from the slot.

Figure 2.5 shows the electromagnetic field distribution for TE_{10} mode of a rectangular waveguide. The electric field is in $\pm y$ direction and its distribution is symmetrical about the centerline of the rectangular waveguide. The electric field component equation is shown in Table A.1 in the Appendix A. The current in the walls of the waveguide are proportional to the difference in electric field between any two points. Therefore, a slot in the exact center of the broad wall of the waveguide does not radiate as the electric field is symmetrical around the center of the waveguide as illustrated in Figure 2.5 and thus is identical at both edges of the slot. As the slot is moved away from the centerline, the difference in electric field intensity between the edges of the slot and increases. This interrupts the flow of more current, which couples more energy to the slot and increases the radiated power. However, since the sidewalls are short circuits for the electric field, when a slot is placed too close to the sides of the waveguide, the electric field is very small and the induced current must also be small. Thus, longitudinal slots far from the center do not radiate significantly.

From the point of view of the waveguide, the slot is a shunt impedance, or an equiva-



Figure 2.6: Longitudinal slot in a broad wall of rectangular waveguide equals to a shunt impedance across the transmission line.

lent admittance, across the transmission line loading the transmission line as illustrated in Figure 2.6. The following equation first obtained by A. F. Stevenson [57] indicates that the normalized conductance of a resonant longitudinal shunt slot in the broad wall of a rectangular waveguide is approximately equal to a constant times the square of the sine of an angle proportional to its offset

$$\frac{G}{G_0} = \left[2.09\frac{w/h}{\beta/k}\cos^2\left(\frac{\pi\beta}{2k}\right)\right]\sin^2\frac{\pi x}{w}$$
(2.5)

in which β is the propagation constant for the TE₁₀ mode, *k* is the wave number, *x* is the offset from the center line of the broad wall, *w* and *h* are the width and height of the rectangular waveguide, respectively.

There is an assumption made when deriving Equation 2.5 that the network elements are purely real, the slot is resonant, and the length of the slot is near $\lambda/2$. A. A. Oliner re-developed the theory but now for any slot length [58] as

$$\frac{R}{Z_0} = \frac{8\pi w^3 h}{3\lambda^3 \lambda_g} \cdot \frac{\left[1 - \left(\frac{2a'}{\lambda_g}\right)^2\right]^2 \left[1 - 0.374 \left(\frac{a'}{\lambda}\right)^2 + 0.130 \left(\frac{a'}{\lambda}\right)^4\right]}{\sin^2\left(\frac{\pi x}{w}\right)\cos^2\left(\frac{\pi a'}{\lambda_g}\right)}$$
(2.6)

where λ is the free space wavelength, λ_g is the guide wavelength, x is the offset of the slot from the center line of the rectangular waveguide, a' is slot length, and w and h are the width and the length of the rectangular waveguide.

It was found that Equation 2.6 can be used directly in the analysis of dielectrically loaded waveguides as long as changing the following parameters:

$$\begin{cases} \lambda_g \Longrightarrow \lambda_{g\varepsilon} = \frac{\lambda_0}{\sqrt{\varepsilon_r - \left(\frac{\lambda_0}{2w}\right)^2}} \\ \lambda \Longrightarrow \lambda_0 \end{cases}$$
(2.7)

where $\lambda_{g\varepsilon}$ is the guide wavelength in the dielectric, λ_0 is the wavelength in the free space, ε_r is the relative dielectric constant and *w* is the width of the rectangular waveguide, which also means that Equation 2.6 can be used for SIW.

2.4 Chapter Summary

After a comparison of the properties of THz antennas and a comparison of many antenna designs in CMOS process, this chapter identified a SIW slot antenna as the antenna technology that is capable of producing an efficient CMOS integrated antenna that does not require any post-processing. Then, the advantages of SIW structures comparing with conventional waveguides and planar circuits were discussed. Next, the SIW structure was presented and the reason for SIW supporting only TE_{m0} modes were explained. This was followed by the review of the principles of slot antenna operations, which included the Babinet's Principle and derivation of the impedance of longitudinal slot radiators.

Chapter 3

46 GHz SIW Slot Antenna Design

As mentioned in Section 1.4, a 46 GHz SIW slot antenna is first designed, fabricated, and tested to verify the design concept, which is a down-scaled prototype of the 460 GHz SIW slot antenna. After a brief literature review in Section 3.1, a design of a 46 GHz SIW slot antenna is presented in Section 3.2. In Section 3.3 several parameters, which increase the gain of the antenna, are discussed. Section 3.4 explores the effect of the fabrication tolerances on the impedance of the antenna. Section 3.5 demonstrates the experimental results of the fabricated antenna and shows a good agreement with simulated results.

3.1 Brief Literature Review

To put this antenna in the context of previously published antennas operating in a similar frequency range, this chapter starts with a quick literature review of previously published antennas operating at frequency below 100 GHz as shown in Table 3.1.

A W-band SIW horn antenna was presented in [59], which was fabricated on a PCB and produced 1 GHz of bandwidth with a simulated gain of 9 dBi, fed by a WR – 10 waveguide. Another W-band SIW slot antenna with measured return loss of 20 dB was reported in [66]. [60] presented a 79 GHz SIW single slot, longitudinal slot array, and four-by-four antenna array using a flexible PCB process, which have achieved gains of 2.8 dBi, 6.0 dBi, and 11.0 dBi and bandwidths of 4.7%, 5.4% and 10.7%, respectively. In [61] a 94 GHz SIW 32×32 slot array was proposed with the maximal gain of 25.8 dBi and fed by WR-10 waveguides. A 27 GHz SIW H-plane horn antenna, a 1×4 horn array and a 1×8 horn array were fabricated on PCB process and tested to achieve gains of 5.75 dBi, 13.75 dBi and 15.65 dBi, respectively [64]. [62] presented a 4×4 SIW slot array antenna at X-band with a bandwidth of 0.6 GHz and a gain of 15.7 dBi. An X-band dual-slot broadband SIW antenna was presented in [63]. The antenna has a bandwidth of 8.5%, the maximum gain

Ref.	Process	Antenna Type	Frequency (GHz)	-10 dB BW	Gain (dBi)	Efficiency
[59]	PCB	SIW horn	84	1.2%	9	-
		SIW slot		4.7%	2.8	47%
[60]	FPCB	1×4 slot array	79	5.4%	5.8	43%
		4×4 slot array	-	10.7%	11.1	38%
[61]	PCB	32×32 slot array	94	-	25.8	75%
[62]	PCB	4×4 SIW slot	10	6%	15 7	_
[02]	FCD	array	10	0 70	13.7	-
[63]	PCB	SIW dual-slot	10	8.5%	8.1	75%
		SIW H-plane Horn		-	5.8	-
[64]	PCB	1×4 SIW H-plane	27		13.8	_
		Horn array		_	15.0	-
		1×8 SIW H-plane		_	15 7	_
		Horn array		_	13.7	_
		2×2 patch array		10%	13.6	73%
[65]	PCB	2×4 patch array	12.5	12%	16.7	73%
	I CD	4×4 patch array] 12.3	11.5%	19.5	70%
		8×8 patch array		13%	24	50%

Table 3.1: Comparison of SIW Antennas.

of 8.14 dBi and efficiency of 75%. [65] reported SIW cavity-backed microstrip patch arrays of 2×2 , 2×4 , 4×4 , and 8×8 with measured gains of 13.6 dBi, 16.65 dBi, 19.46 dBi and 24 dBi at 12.5 GHz, respectively. [67] presented an X-band SIW leaky-wave antenna with transverse slots, which supports a leaky mode, a proper waveguide mode, and a surface-wave mode, depending on the frequency region.

3.2 46 GHz SIW Slot Antenna Design

First, SIW was designed for the SIW slot antenna. A thickness of 10 mil Rogers RT/duroid 5880 was chosen for the substrate, which has a dielectric constant ε_r of 2.2 and loss tangent of 0.0009. The SIW structure simulated in HFSS is shown in Figure 3.1. The final dimensions of the SIW are presented in the last four rows of Table 3.2. As discussed in Section 2.2, a SIW can be equivalent to a conventional dielectric-filled rectangular waveguide. From Equation 2.1, the width of the equivalent rectangular waveguide is selected as



Figure 3.1: Configuration of a SIW.

2.48 mm, which has a cutoff frequency of 41.1 GHz for the dominant mode (TE₁₀). This cut-off frequency is sufficiently low to propagate the desired 46 GHz signal but also sufficiently high to reduce antenna width and prevent other propagation modes. The simulated S_{11} and S_{21} of the SIW are shown in Figure 3.2.

In the HFSS simulation, a wave port was setup to excite the antennas shown in Figure 3.3. An integration line from the center of the bottom plane to the center of the microstrip, also shown in Figure 3.3, defines the port impedance. The width of the wave port is 5 times the width of the microstrip and the height of the wave port is 10 times of the height of the substrate. There is an air box around the antenna to define the radiation boundary, which is one wavelength away from the antenna surfaces.

In this design, the slot length is chosen to be approximately a half wavelength in free space ($a' = 0.48\lambda$). The final antenna layout is shown in Figure 3.4. Also the dimensions of the antenna are listed in Table 3.2. The resulting normalized resistance of the shunt resistor $R/Z_0 = 0.85$ computed from Equation 2.6 demonstrated in the previous chapter. This means the equivalent resistance of the slot matches that of the SIW.

The top view of the SIW antenna fed by the microstrip is shown in Figure 3.4. The distance between the shorted end wall and the slot of a integer multiple of a one-quarter



Figure 3.2: Simulated S_{11} and S_{21} of the SIW.



Figure 3.3: Excitation for the HFSS simulation.


Figure 3.4: Top view of the SIW slot antenna and the microstrip feedline.

Variable	Dimensions (mil)
Slot offset <i>x</i>	4
Slot length a'	124
Slot width b'	4
Top metal length l_{top}	266
Top metal width w_{top}	180
Bottom metal width <i>w</i> bottom	500
Via diameter d	12
Via spacing <i>p</i>	24
SIW width <i>w</i>	102
Substrate thickness h	10

 Table 3.2: Antenna dimensions of the 46 GHz SIW slot antenna.

wavelength is needed, in most publications three-quarter wavelength was used because of the fabrication limitation. In this design, the cutoff frequency is close to the operating frequency and the dielectric constant of the substrate is low, thereby making the guide



Figure 3.5: Simulated peak gain and radiation efficiency of the SIW slot antenna.

wavelength larger than the free space wavelength and permitting the fabrication of a quarter wavelength spacing. The simulated peak gain and radiation efficiency from HFSS are presented in Figure 3.5. In the frequency range from 45 GHz to 49 GHz the peak gain of the antenna is over 8 dBi and the radiation efficiency is more than 95%.

3.3 Factors Improving the Antenna Gain

The width of the top metal w_{top} affects the antenna radiation significantly as shown in Figure 3.6. Figures 3.6 (a) and (b) give the E-plane and H-plane radiation patterns with different widths of the top metal layer w_{top} at 46 GHz. When w_{top} is 180 mil and the width of bottom metal w_{bottom} is 500 mil, the antenna has a maximal gain of 9.6 dBi, which is 7.6 dB higher than for $w_{bottom} = 134$ mil due to the radiation from the longitudinal edges of the top metal generated by the leaking currents through the gaps between adjacent vias. Figure 3.7 shows the surface currents of the antenna, which prove that there are some





Figure 3.6: Simulated radiation pattern for varying width of top metal at 46 GHz. (a) E-plane. (b) H-plane.



Figure 3.7: Surface currents of the proposed antenna from HFSS.

currents flowing out of the SIW and radiating at the longitudinal edges of the top metal. The front-to-back ratio is 19.6 dB due to the large ground plane ($w_{bottom} = 500 \text{ mil}$), which provides good isolation for keeping radiation from back. As shown in Figure 3.6, the back lobe decreases when the width of top metal increases.

Another important factor, which affects back lobe, is the width of bottom metal w_{bottom} . The comparison of the back lobes for different widths of the bottom metal w_{bottom} is illustrated in Figure 3.8. Although the back lobe splits from one lobe into three small lobes in the E-plane as the width of ground plane increases, for the large ground plane the back lobe decreases by 10 dB and the main lobe increases by 4 dB when compared to an antenna with





Figure 3.8: Simulated radiation pattern for varying width of the ground metal at 46 GHz. (a) E-plane. (b) H-plane.



Figure 3.9: Simulated reflection coefficients of the SIW antennas with different widths of top metal.

 $w_{bottom} = 180 \,\mathrm{mil.}$

The width of top metal w_{top} also affects the reflection coefficient of the SIW slot antenna as shown in Figure 3.9. One difference between a traditional waveguide slot antenna design and a SIW slot antenna design is that there is an extension area of the top and ground metals beyond sidewalls or the vias. This extension area is usually ignored in SIW slot antenna designs. The large ground plane is able to compress the back lobe as presented in Figure 3.8. Proper dimensions of the top metal result in higher gain and better impedance matching as illustrated in Figure 3.6 and 3.9.

3.4 Fabrication Tolerance Test

The PCB manufacturer may have as much as a $\sim 5 \text{ mil}$ error on the via placement. This error was observed from previous PCBs fabricated by the same PCB fabrication facility.



Figure 3.10: Top view of the simulation model for via fabrication tolerance. The black square dot is the center of the original via.

Therefore, some simulations were done to investigate the influence of the fabrication errors on the antenna performance. In the simulations, each via was located with a random offset within 5 mil range in both horizontal and vertical directions. Figure 3.10 shows the top view of the PCB modeled in HFSS. The black square dot is the center of the original via. The set-up data for each via is presented in the Table 3.3. Figure 3.11 compares the simulated S_{11} of the original antenna with antennas with offset vias . As can be seen, antennas whose



Figure 3.11: S₁₁ of different via offset of the SIW slot antenna.

 S_{11} is represented by curve 3 and 4 have larger bandwidths, whereas antennas with S_{11} represented by curve 1 and 2 have smaller bandwidths. However, at 46GHz all curves exhibit S_{11} of better than -10 dB and therefore it was assumed that the antenna would not be significantly affected by fabrication tolerances.

3.5 Experimental Performance of the Antenna

The photographs of a fabricated antenna are shown in Figure 3.12. The width and length of the PCB are 500 mil and 616 mil, respectively. The antenna is fed by a microstrip with the width of 25 mil and length of 350 mil. The dark gray substrate in the Figure 3.12(a) is the 10-mil-thick RT/duroid 5880 substrate. There are two extra solid-ground copper layers on a FR4 substrate attached to the bottom of the antenna to increase the thickness and stiffness of the antenna. These two copper layers are connected to the antenna ground with vias. A photograph of the bottom ground plane is shown in Figure 3.12(b). All vias are through



Figure 3.12: Photographs of the fabricated SIW slot antenna. (a) Top view. (b) Back view.

holes from top layer to bottom layer. The total thickness of the PCB is 62 mil. A 2.4mm RF connector as shown in Figure 3.12(a) was used for measurements. The measured and simulated S_{11} are shown in Figure 3.13. The measurements were performed with an R&S ZVA67 vector network analyzer (VNA). The $-10 \text{ dB } S_{11}$ bandwidth was measured as 4.72 GHz from 43.08 GHz to 47.80 GHz, which is close to the simulated bandwidth of 4.80 GHz. The measured S_{11} shows a 0.9 GHz frequency shift comparing with the simulations. This discrepancy is likely because of fabrication tolerances and the presence of the connector, which was not included in the simulations.

The radiation pattern was measured on both E-plane and H-plane from 43 GHz to 47 GHz to compare with the simulated results as shown in Figure 3.14. Theoretically, the E-plane and H-plane radiation patterns at 0° are identical. Due to measurement errors, the measured E-plane and H-plane radiation patterns at 0° have small difference as shown in Figure 3.14, which is acceptable. However, from 45.2 GHz to 46.1 GHz the measured antenna gain shows same drastic ups and downs in E-plane and H-plane and co- and cross-



Figure 3.13: Simulated and measured S_{11} of the antenna.

polarizations. Since the measurements were conducted at Jean-Jacques Laurin laboratory at École Polytechnique de Montréal, it was not possible for us to determine the exact cause for these anomalies. However since antenna does not have highly resonant structures that could cause such a drastic variation in the antenna gain, these anomalies are attributed to measurement errors.

The test was performed in azimuth. The feed antenna (the source) was placed on a rotary actuator. There were two scans for each frequency. For the first scan E-field of the feed antenna was oriented vertically, and for the second scan the E-field was oriented horizontally. Two antennas were tested: a standard gain horn antenna and the 46 GHz SIW slot antenna. By comparing the measured gain of the standard gain horn antenna and the gain from the data sheet, the difference of the gain was obtained. Adding the difference to the 46 GHz antenna measurement results, the gain of the 46 GHz was calculated. For the 46 GHz SIW slot antenna measurement, the antenna (the slot) was placed vertically



(b)

Figure 3.14: Simulated and measured antenna gain from 43 GHz to 47 GHz. (a) Copolarization. (b) Cross-polarization.

first. After measuring all frequencies, the antenna was rotated to horizon position around the center of the slot. The measurement was repeated at all frequencies again. Finally the E-plane and H-plane co-polarization and cross-polarization were obtained.

The frequency range from 45.2 GHz to 46.1 GHz was skipped in the following discussion. The measured co-polarization gains agree with the simulated ones except from 45.2 GHz to 46.1 GHz as shown in Figure 3.14 (a). However, Figure 3.14 (b) shows that the measured cross-polarization gain is larger than the simulated result above 44.5 GHz. To find the reason why the cross-polarization gains are higher than the simulation, the radiation patterns at 46.2 GHz were studied. The antenna achieved the measured gain of 7.8 dBi at 46.2 GHz while simulated gain was 9.6 dBi. The simulated and measured E-plane and Hplane radiation patterns for co-polarization and cross-polarization are shown in Figure 3.15 and 3.16, respectively. In Figure 3.15 (a) the HPBWs are 45° and 63° for simulated and measured co-polarization patterns, respectively. Meanwhile, in Figure 3.15 (b) the HPBWs are 56° and 63° for simulated and measured co-polarization patterns, respectively. There is a good agreement between the measured co-polarization radiation pattern and simulated patterns for both E-plane and H-plane. Ripples can be found in the measurements, especially in the angular regions where the radiation is weak. These are likely due to reflections in the test setup. The 2.4-mm RF connector was found to increase the cross-polarization in both the H-plane and the E-plane significantly as illustrated in Figure 3.15. In HFSS a short coax cable and the connector were modeled and simulated with the antenna model, which consists of four layers of copper as shown in Figure 3.17. In Figure 3.16(b) the cross-polarization gain is 10dB higher than the simulated gain of the antenna without the connector in the H-plane below -60° region, where the connector blocks the radiation of the antenna. Moreover, in the E-plane the cross-polarization gain is about 5 dB higher as compared to the simulated cross-polarization gain from the antenna without the connector. The measured cross-polarization gain and the simulated gain with the connector agree well. From this, it is concluded that the real cross-polarization of the antenna without the



Figure 3.15: Simulated and measured co-polarization radiation patterns at 46.2 GHz. (a) E-plane. (b) H-plane.



(a)



(b)

Figure 3.16: Simulated and measured cross-polarization radiation patterns at 46.2 GHz. (a) E-plane. (b) H-plane.



Figure 3.17: The antenna with a connector and a short piece of coax cable simulated in HFSS.

connector is expected to be close to the simulated results of only the antenna.

The antenna performance summary and comparison with other SIW antennas is given in Table 3.4.

3.6 Conclusion

The design and experimental results of the 46 GHz broadband high-gain SIW slot antenna are presented in this chapter. The antenna has a -10 dB S_{11} bandwidth of 4.80 GHz from HFSS simulation, which agrees with the measured bandwidth of 4.72 GHz. The simulated gain is 9.6 dBi and the simulated efficiency is 96% at 46.2 GHz. The measured gain is 7.8 dBi at 46.2 GHz. The measured antenna pattern agrees with the simulations. Comparing with other SIW slot antennas, this antenna has a larger bandwidth and a higher gain due to the optimized dimensions of top metal and the large ground metal. It was found that properly selected dimensions of the top and bottom metal are important to achieve high gain and large front-to-back ratio.

Via #	Test 1 offset		Test 2 offset		Test 3 offset		Test 4 offset	
	x (mil)	y (mil)						
Via1	0	3	-1	1	-1	2	3	3
Via2	0	-2	1	-2	-3	3	-1	-3.5
Via3	0	3	1.5	4	-5	0	2.5	-1
Via4	0	-3	3	-0.5	-1	3	-1	1.2
Via5	0	-2	-2	-2	3	0.5	0	-2
Via6	0	1	0	3	-1	-2	-0.5	0.5
Via7	0	3	-1.5	-1	1.5	-3	3	1.5
Via8	0	0	-3	0	1.5	4	1	-0.5
Via9	0	0	2	3	-1.5	-1	2	-0.5
Via10	0	0	0.5	1.5	-3.5	0	0.5	-2
Via11	0	0	3.5	1	-2	-1.5	4	1
Via12	0	0	-1	-2	-2	3	-3	4
Via13	0	2	4	-2	1	-3.5	2	-0.5
Via14	0	-3	0	0.5	2.5	-1.5	-1.5	4
Via15	0	3	-3	-2	-1	0	2.5	-1
Via16	0	-1	3	-1	1	-2	0	2
Via17	0	1	1.5	-4	-1	4	1	-1.5
Via18	0	-3	1.5	1	-3	-2	-2	2
Via19	0	2	-2	-3	1.5	2	-1	-3

Table 3.3: Vias offset from original coordinates in the simulations.

-	Reference	[59]	[60]	[63]	This work
-	Process	PCB	FPCB	РСВ	РСВ
	Antenna Type	Horn	Slot	Dual-slot	Slot
	Frequency	84 GHz	79 GHz	10 GHz	46 GHz
	Bandwidth	1.2%	4.7%	8.5%	10.3%
	Gain	9 dBi*	2.8 dBi	8.14 dBi	7.8 dBi
_	Efficiency	-	47%*	75%	96%*

Table 3.4: Performance summary and comparison of SIW antennas.

* Simulated

Chapter 4

460 GHz CMOS SIW Slot Antenna Design

In the previous chapter, a 46 GHz PCB SIW slot antenna was designed and tested to verify the design procedure. Since that design demonstrated good agreement between the simulated and measured results, it was concluded that the design concepts were proven. This chapter first describes the 65 nm CMOS process design-rule restrictions and the way to minimize the restrictions for the SIW slot antenna design in Section 4.1. Sections 4.2 and 4.3 present the 460 GHz SIW slot antenna design and the simulated results, respectively. At last, Section 4.4 analyzes the antenna efficiency and loss mechanisms with a simulation in which different loss mechanisms are implemented.

4.1 65 nm CMOS Process Design-Rule Restrictions

In order to facilitate integration with the entire receiver, the 460GHz SIW slot antenna was designed in a TSMC (Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing Company) 65 nm CMOS process. Figure 4.1 shows the cross-section of the TSMC 65 nm process metalization and dielectric layers. There are 10 metal layers in 65 nm process: M1, M2,..., M10. M10 is an aluminum layer and all other layers are copper layers. Also, there are 9 different vias connecting the adjacent metal layers. For example, Via1 connects M1 and M2. In addition, there are 35 dielectric layers: D0, D1..., D34. Some layers are very thin, about several $10^{-2} \mu$ m thick. Figure 4.1 shows 4 different gray colors for the dielectric layers, which stand for 4 different dielectric constants of the 35 dielectric layers. M1 and M10 are selected to be the top and bottom metals of the SIW respectively. The SIW via-walls comprise of the via stack from M1 to M10. The side view of vias model in HFSS is shown in Figure 4.2.

An SIW layed out in a CMOS process is somewhat different from other processes due to limitations imposed by the CMOS technology design rules. In particular, the CMOS



Figure 4.1: A schematic cross-section of TSMC 65 nm process. Different grayscale shows different dielectric constant for the dielectric layers (D0-D34).

metal density rules significantly impact the SIW design. The maximum metal density of M1 is 80% in each $100 \,\mu\text{m} \times 100 \,\mu\text{m}$ window, in steps of $50 \,\mu\text{m}$. To satisfy the maximum metal density rules, square holes $(10 \,\mu\text{m} \times 10 \,\mu\text{m}$, spacing $10 \,\mu\text{m}$) were created in the M1 as shown in Figure 4.3 (a). The reduced M1 density to 76.2% over the whole antenna area.



Figure 4.2: Side view of vias.

For the internal metal layers (M2 - M9) a minimum metal density is 10% in each $75 \mu m \times 75 \mu m$ window, in steps of $37.5 \mu m$. In this case when this rule is not satisfied with a given layout, some small "dummy" metals have to be placed on the M2 to M9 layers to increase the metal density and pass the minimum density requirements. Since inside of a SIW the metal density is ideally zero, some extra "dummy" metals have to be added in the final layout of the SIW antenna. The "dummy" metals in the SIW dielectric do not only change the SIW dielectric constant but also increase the complexity of the simulation model. To reduce the impact of the "dummy" metals, the antenna was identified as an inductor. This is done with a special identification layer that tells TSMC that some of the design rules can be relaxed. In most RF designs, inductor layouts are covered with such an identification layer to keep their self-resonance frequencies as high as possible by reducing the amount of metal under inductors. In this work also to reduce the internal metal (M2 – M9) density requirements, most of the SIW slot antenna was defined as an inductor using the inductor identification layer as shown in Figure 4.3 (b). In the final design there

are 95 pieces of "dummy" metals $(3 \mu m \times 3 \mu m)$, spacing $12 \mu m$) placed on each of 8 metal layers M2 to M9 as shown in Figure 4.3 (b). In the antenna layout, displayed in Figure 4.4, this inductor identification layer is shown to cover most of the antenna area. With this, in the final antenna layout, the metal density for the internal layers including the "dummy" metals and vias is only 5.2%. More specifically, the density of "dummy" metals is only 0.7% in the SIW instead of the minimum requirement of 10%.

The slot is cut in the M10 layer, which is the top metal that does not have to follow strict metal density. However, there are two dielectric layers above M10 in the TSMC 65 nm CMOS process as shown in Figure 4.1. Although they can be removed above M10 by identifying the top layer as a bondpad, in the slot where M10 is removed the two dielectric layers remain. Figure 4.5 shows the cross-section of the SIW slot antenna. The two dielectric layers are thinner than metal M10, so the antenna slot is not completely filled by the dielectric. The slot antenna can be considered as a dielectric-covered antenna.



Figure 4.3: (a) Layout of M1 layer with 308 square holes. (b) The inductor identification layer and 95 pieces of square dummy metals $(3 \mu m \times 3 \mu m, \text{ spacing } 12 \mu m)$ filled in the antenna.



Figure 4.4: Top view of the antenna layout generated in Cadence.



Figure 4.5: Cross-section of the SIW slot antenna.

Mode	Cutoff Frequency (GHz)
TE ₁₀	351.7
TE ₂₀	703.4
TE_{01}	8587
$TE_{11},TM_{11}\\$	8595

Table 4.1: Cutoff frequencies of the rectangular waveguide.

4.2 Antenna Design

The TSMC CMOS process limits and sets some design parameters. One of them is the height of the SIW, which has to be the thickness between M1 and M10 metal layers. The maximum size of the via (Via9) is $3\mu m \times 3\mu m$. The minimum space ($3\mu m$) between Via9 is selected in the design of the SIW. With these, a SIW can be designed by using Equation 2.1, from which the width of the equivalent rectangular waveguide was calculated. The width (*w*) and height (*h*) of the SIW are $215\mu m$ and $8.805\mu m$, respectively. The dielectric of the SIW is so thin that the width of $215\mu m$ allows the SIW to support the presence of only a single mode (TE₁₀). The cutoff frequencies of different modes in the equivalent rectangular waveguide are given by Equation 4.1:

$$f_{c_{mn}} = \frac{c}{2\pi\sqrt{\varepsilon_r}}\sqrt{\left(\frac{m\pi}{w}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{n\pi}{h}\right)^2}$$
(4.1)

where *c* is the speed of light in free space, ε_r is the dielectric constant of the dielectric filled in the waveguide, *w* and *h* are the width and height of the rectangular waveguide, and $m, n = 0, 1, 2 \cdots$. Table 4.1 demonstrates the cutoff frequencies of the TE and TM modes for the equivalent rectangular waveguide of the SIW. The simulated propagation constant (γ) for the first two modes are shown in Figure 4.6. The cutoff frequencies are 354.6 GHz and 709.5 GHz for TE₁₀ mode and TE₂₀ mode, respectively, which are very close to the



Figure 4.6: Simulated propagation constant (γ) of the TE₁₀ and TE₂₀ mode. The real parts (attenuation constant α) are the lines with squares (TE₁₀) and circles (TE₂₀), respectively. The imaginary parts (phase constant β) are the lines with up triangles (TE₁₀) and down triangles (TE₂₀), respectively.

theoretical value listed in Table 4.1.

To save space and reduce the cost of the IC, it is better to design a small on-chip antenna. A shorter slot results in a small area of the antenna not only because of the slot itself, but also because the distance between the slot center and the end of SIW needs to be a quarter of the guide wavelength as shown in Figure 4.7. If the slot was a half of the guide wavelength, the slot would interact with the end of the SIW perturbing the operation of the antenna.

For the SIW in the TSMC 65nm CMOS process, the guide wavelength of $501 \,\mu$ m was calculated from the equation in Table A.1 in Appendix A. For a dielectric-filled guide, the

224 µm 🗌 🗌 📩 🔲 🗌 🔤			
Quarter transformer		SIW slot antenna	
Input microstrip 41.2 μm	Center Line	↓ ←	$\frac{1}{4}\lambda_g$
	The second se	W X	
	577.8 μm		

Figure 4.7: Top view of the SIW slot antenna.

slot length can be approximated by [68]:

$$L = \frac{\lambda_0}{\sqrt{2(\varepsilon_r + 1)}} \tag{4.2}$$

Although comprehensive theory has been developed for dielectric-covered antenna since 1960s [69, 70], this design is a little different as: the dielectric is inside the slot and does not cover the top of the slot as shown in Figure 4.5. Instead, a numerical method was used to analyze the antenna in this work. Figure 4.8 compares the S₁₁ of the SIW slot antenna with and without dielectric in the slot. The figure demonstrates that the dielectric in the slot reduces the resonance frequency of the antenna. In addition, the comparison of radiation patterns are shown in Figure 4.9, which give the same conclusion as in [71]: in the E-plane patterns it is evident that the dielectric in the slot reduces the normal electric field component along the surface ($\theta = 90^{\circ}$ and 270°), and in the H-plane the presence of the dielectric has very small overall effect.

The top view of the antenna in HFSS is shown in Figure 4.7. The antenna model consists of 3 parts: a $50 - \Omega$ microstrip, a quarter-wave transformer, and the SIW slot antenna. The SIW slot antenna part was designed first. The distance between the center of the slot and the end of SIW is a quarter-guide wavelength. Three parameters: the length



Figure 4.8: Comparison the S_{11} of the SIW slot antenna with and without dielectric in the slot.

of the slot *L*, the width of the slot *W*, and the displacement of the slot from the center line of the SIW *X* are important for the design. The comparison of S_{11} s for different sizes and positions of the slot are shown in Figures 4.10, 4.11, and 4.12. These three figures illustrate that the resonant frequency increases when the slot length gets shorter, the width gets wider, or the slot gets more offset from the center line. This conclusion is used to optimize the impedance matching for the SIW slot antenna.

The characteristic impedance of the SIW slot antenna is $15 + j0.14\Omega$ at 460 GHz from HFSS simulation as shown in Figure 4.13. It agrees with the theoretical result of the characteristic impedance of the SIW

$$Z_{SIW} = \frac{h}{w} \frac{465}{\sqrt{\varepsilon_r - \left(\frac{\lambda_0}{2w}\right)^2}}$$
(4.3)



(a)



(b)

Figure 4.9: The comparison of radiation patterns for slot antenna with and without dielectric in the slot. (a) E-plane. (b) H-plane.



Figure 4.10: Simulated S₁₁ of different slot lengths.

where *h* is the height of the SIW, *w* is the width of the SIW, and λ_0 is the wavelength in free space, which is derived from the characteristic impedance of the rectangular waveguide with the power-current definition [72]. The equations, which are used for the derivation of Equation 4.3, are presented in Appendix A. The characteristic impedance in HFSS was set to Z_{pi} , which is also based on the power-current definition as Equation 4.3. In Figure 4.13, the imaginary part of the propagation constant is close to zero at all frequencies. The small difference between simulated and theoretical values is due to the error of equivalent width of the rectangular waveguide.

The characteristic impedance and the effective dielectric constant of a microstrip are given approximately by [73]:

$$Z_{0} = \begin{cases} \frac{60}{\sqrt{\varepsilon_{e}}} \ln\left(\frac{8h}{w_{m}}\right) + \frac{w_{m}}{4h} & \text{for } w_{m}/h \le 1\\ \frac{120\pi}{\sqrt{\varepsilon_{e}}[w_{m}/h + 1.393 + 0.667] \ln(w_{m}/h + 1.444)]} & \text{for } w_{m}/h \ge 1 \end{cases}$$
(4.4)



Figure 4.11: Simulated S₁₁ of different slot widths.

$$\varepsilon_r = \frac{\varepsilon_r + 1}{2} + \frac{\varepsilon_r - 1}{2} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + 12h/w_m}} \tag{4.5}$$

where w_m is the width of the microstrip line, *h* is the thickness of the substrate, ε_e is the relative dielectric constant of the substrate.

Since the height of the SIW is only $8.805 \,\mu$ m, the width of microstrip line is larger than the height. Then $w_m/h \ge 1$ is used in the design of the microstrip. With the effective dielectric constant ε_r of 3, the width of the microstrip of $15 \,\mu$ m for a $50 - \Omega$ microstrip can be calculated from the Equations 4.4 and 4.5. The wavelength in the microstrip is $377 \,\mu$ m at 460 GHz. According to the impedance of quarter-wave transformer $Z_1 = \sqrt{Z_0 R_L}$, the quarter-wave transformer is implemented between the input microstrip and the SIW slot antenna. The antenna dimensions are listed in Table 4.2.

As mentioned in the Section 4.1, the "dummy" metal inside the dielectric change the dielectric constant of the SIW. By using the inductor identification layer the "dummy" metals



Figure 4.12: Simulated S₁₁ of different slot offsets.

were significantly reduced in the SIW. Figure 4.14 compares the simulated S_{11} for the proposed antenna and the antenna without "dummy" metals. It is evident that the "dummy" metals in the SIW do not impact the impedance of the SIW. The inductor identification layer works well to minimize the impact of the "dummy" fill. In addition, the simulated S_{11} for the antenna without holes in M1 layer is also presented in Figure 4.14. The presence of the holes in M1 changes the impedance of the SIW, which makes the resonant frequency of the SIW slot antenna decrease 7 GHz from 467 GHz to 460 GHz. The dielectric layer D1 and D2 are at the same level as M1 as shown in Figure 4.1. Therefore, D1 and D2 fill in the holes after square holes are created in M1. This changes the equivalent dielectric constant of the SIW as demonstrated in the following section.



Figure 4.13: Simulated and theoretical impedance of the proposed SIW.

4.3 Simulation Results

Given the sheet resistance and the thickness of each metal layers from the TSMC 65 nm CMOS design rules, the conductivity of each metal layer is calculated from Equation 4.6,

$$\sigma = \frac{1}{\rho} = \frac{1}{R_s \cdot t} \tag{4.6}$$

where σ is the conductivity, ρ is the resistivity, R_s is the sheet resistance, and t is the sheet thickness. The bulk conductivity of M1, M2, \cdots , M7, M10 and Via9 are a little lower than that of aluminum. The bulk conductivity of M8 and M9 are a little lower than that of copper. With all dimensions, metal conductivity and dielectric constants, the design can be precisely modeled in HFSS.

However, the accurate model is not appropriate for all simulations. There are 30 di-

Name	Dimension (μm)
Microstrip length	94.5
Quarter-wave transformer length	94.5
Microstrip width	16.4
Quarter-wave transformer width	41.2
Dummy square size	3
Dummy spacing	12
M1 square hole size	10
M1 square hole spacing	10
Via size	3
Via spacing	3
Slot length L	250
Slot width W	20
Slot offset X	10
Entire chip length	577.8
Entire chip width	224

Table 4.2: Antenna dimensions of the 460 GHz SIW slot antenna.

electric layers between M1 and M10 in the 65 nm CMOS process. Some layers are only about several $10^{-2} \mu m$ thick. Electromagnetic 3D simulations of such a complex structure requires significant computational resources and a very long simulation time. Therefore, to make 3D EM simulations feasible, an equivalent model comprising of a single dielectric layer was investigated for simulations. By considering all 30 dielectric layers as a series combination of capacitors as shown in Figure 4.15, the total capacitance is calculated by

$$\frac{1}{C_t} = \frac{1}{C_1} + \frac{1}{C_2} + \dots + \frac{1}{C_n}.$$
(4.7)



Figure 4.14: Comparison of S_{11} for the SIW slot antenna with and without "dummy" metals in the dielectric and holes in the M1.



Figure 4.15: Multi-dielectric layers can be equivalent to a series combination of capacitors.

By calculating the dielectric constant, which makes the single capacitor formed between the top and bottom layers equal to total capacitance, the equivalent dielectric layer is found from

$$C = \frac{\varepsilon A}{d},\tag{4.8}$$



Figure 4.16: Simulated S-parameters of 30 layers and an equivalent dielectric layer.

where ε is the permittivity of the dielectric, *A* is the area of the parallel metallic plates, and *d* is the thickness of the dielectric. Then the equivalent dielectric constant of 3.93 can be calculated. A comparison of S-parameters between 30 dielectric layers SIW and an equivalent dielectric layer SIW is shown in Figure 4.16. The simulated S₁₁ is almost identical for both 30 layers and equivalent single layer model. In addition, Figure 4.17 illustrates 3D HFSS simulations of S₁₁ of a SIW slot antenna, which was modeled with an equivalent dielectric layer and with 30 dielectric layers. The simulations of the antenna modeled with the complete 30-dielectric-layer structure required 752 GB of RAM. However, only 21.5 GB of RAM was needed for the single equivalent-dielectric-layer-antenna model. It was concluded that the equivalent dielectric model reduces memory requirements significantly while keeping the simulation precision. This equivalent dielectric was used for all antenna simulations.

The simulated gain of the final antenna is 0.86 dBi at 460 GHz. The co-polarization



Figure 4.17: Simulated of S_{11} for antennas with both 30 dielectric layers and an equivalent dielectric layer.

and cross-polarization radiation patterns are shown in Figure 4.18 using Ludwig's third definition of cross polarization [74]. The HPBWs are 102° and 73° in E-plane and H-plane, respectively. The simulated peak gain for both co-polarization and cross-polarization and radiation efficiency are shown in Figure 4.19. The peak gain and radiation efficiency do not change much from 450GHz to 470GHz. The cross-polarization is $20 \sim 23 \, \text{dB}$ below the co-polarization in the frequency range. The surface currents distribution of top metal is shown in Figure 4.20, which is similar distribution to that of the 46 GHz antenna. The currents are depicted as a grayscale map using white for maximum current intensity and traversing to black for minimum current intensity. The 3D radiation pattern with the antenna model from HFSS is presented in Figure 4.21.

There is a $\sim 0.5 \,\text{mm}$ dielectric substrate under the M1 in the 65 nm CMOS process. To determine the impact of the CMOS silicon substrate on the antenna performance, the


(a)



(b)

Figure 4.18: Radiation patterns of the proposed antenna at 460 GHz. (a) E-plane radiation pattern. (b) H-plane radiation pattern.



Figure 4.19: Simulated radiation efficiency and the peak gains of the proposed antenna for both co-polarization and cross-polarization.

simulated S₁₁ of the proposed antenna with and without the silicon substrate is presented in Figure 4.22. With the substrate the resonant frequency shifts from 460.1 GHz to 457.6 GHz. The bandwidth of S₁₁ below -10 dB increases from 20.4 GHz to 25.3 GHz. The gain and efficiency are listed in Table 4.3. Also, the simulated radiation patterns of the antenna with and without the silicon substrate are shown in Figure 4.23. As can be seen, with the substrate the gain drops from 0.86 dBi to 0.09 dBi. The radiation efficiency drops from 30.1% to 29.1%. In addition, Table 4.3 compares the proposed antenna with 4 other simulated terahertz on-chip CMOS antennas.

4.4 Loss Analysis

The antenna radiation efficiency is affected by two dissipation mechanisms: ohmic and dielectric loss. Ohmic losses are due to the finite conductivity and the roughness of the



Figure 4.20: Surface currents distribution of the top metal.

metal layers and vias. Dielectric losses are due to the dissipation caused by the dielectric material (loss tangent). In the previous section the loss tangent was 0.001 for the dielectric and conductivity of metal layers were calculated from the design rules, which resulted in conductivity nearly that of aluminum and copper.

To find out the cause for reduced antenna efficiency and gain, two initial sets of simulations were performed: one was to check material losses and the other one was to check the "dummy" metals and holes influences. The first simulation in the first set investigated the effect of ohmic loss, by using perfect electric conductor (PEC) instead of the finite conductivity of the metals in the CMOS process. The second simulation investigated the loss



Figure 4.21: Antenna model and 3D radiation pattern from HFSS.

tangent of the dielectric material by setting loss tangent to zero for the no-dielectric-loss case. The results are shown in the first 4 rows of Table 4.4 where for comparison a lossless case (row 1) and the practical case (row 4) are also included. As can be seen most of loss is due to ohmic loss.

To investigate the effect of "dummy" metals and square holes in the bottom metal, in addition to the first two simulations another 3 simulations were conducted. In the first simulation of the second set all metal "dummies" were removed to investigate their affect on antenna performance. In the next simulation, all M1 holes were removed, which was followed by the last simulation where both "dummies" and holes were removed. The comparison of radiation efficiency and peak power gain resulted from the three additional



Figure 4.22: Simulated S_{11} of the SIW slot antenna with and without silicon substrate underneath.

simulations are shown in the fifth to seventh rows of Table 4.4.

At last another loss test was performed on bottom metal. Because there are many holes in the M1 layer, it was suspected that it may not be a good ground metal. Therefore, M2 was connected to M1. The same hole size $(10 \,\mu m \times 10 \,\mu m)$ was created on M2 as shown in Figure 4.24 (a) while keeping the holes in M1 and M2 non overlapping. The top view of M1 and M2 combined together is shown in Figure 4.24 (b). M1 and M2 are connected by Via1, which are in horizontal rows. The simulated gain and efficiency are listed in the last row of Table 4.4. As can be seen combining M1 and M2 improves the gain by 0.4 dB and efficiency by 3.5%. However, this model conflicts with the design rules and cannot be fabricated.

The loss analysis for the SIW shows the same result: a SIW with the same width and height of the proposed antenna was simulated in HFSS. PEC and loss tangent of 0.001

	This work 1	[48]	[49] ¹	[47]	[46] ¹
Antenna type	SIW slot	SIW slot	Planar dipole	Patch	SIW corner slots
Frequency	460 GHz	434 GHz	540GHz	410GHz	270 GHz
Gain	0.86 dBi, 0.09 dBi ²	-0.55 dBi	1.33 dBi ²	0.41 dBi ³	-0.5 dBi
Radiation efficiency	30.1%, 29.1% ²	49.8%	28% ²	22% ²	21.4%
Process	65 nm CMOS	0.13μm SiGe BiCMOS	40 nm CMOS	45 nm CMOS	65 nm CMOS
Antenna area	$\frac{380\mu\mathrm{m}\times}{224\mu\mathrm{m}}$	$450\mu\mathrm{m}\times\\250\mu\mathrm{m}^{4}$	170 μm × 300 μm	200 μm × 200 μm	$410\mu\mathrm{m}\times\\410\mu\mathrm{m}$

 Table 4.3: Comparison of simulated on-chip antennas.

¹ Satisfy the metal density rules
² With the silicon substrate
³ Calculated from directivity and efficiency
⁴ Estimated from the microphotograph of the chip-set

Antenna loss set-up	Efficiency	Peak Gain (dBi)
Lossless	100%	6.0
Only metal loss	31.5%	1.1
Only dielectric loss	95.4%	5.8
Both metal and dielectric loss	30.1%	0.86
Without "dummies"	33.6%	1.3
Without holes in M1	37.5%	2.0
Without "dummies" and holes	41.8%	2.3
Combining M1 and M2 as bottom metal	33.6%	1.25

Table 4.4: Efficiency and gain for different loss set-up SIW slot antenna.



(a)



Figure 4.23: Comparison of simulated radiation patterns for antenna only and antenna with CMOS substrate model. (a) E-plane. (b) H-plane.

are set for metal and dielectric material respectively. The attenuation is 14.5 Np/m due to dielectric loss, which is identical to the result calculated for dielectric loss of a rectangular waveguide from [73]

$$\alpha_d = \frac{k^2 \tan \delta}{2\beta},\tag{4.9}$$

where β is the propagation constant, *k* is wave number and tan δ is the loss tangent of the dielectric.

To simulate the attenuation due to conductor loss, the loss tangent was set to 0 and the conductivity is calculated from data in the 65 nm CMOS design rule manual. The theoretical attenuation of 217.6 Np/m for a rectangular waveguide is obtained from [73]:

$$\alpha_c = \frac{R_s \left(2h\pi^2 + w^3 k^2\right)}{w^3 h\beta k\eta},\tag{4.10}$$

where R_s is the surface resistivity of the metal, μ_0 is the permeability of free space, and $\eta = \sqrt{\mu/\varepsilon}$ is the intrinsic impedance of the material filling the waveguide, *w* and *h* are the width and height of the rectangular waveguide, respectively. However the simulated attenuation due to metal loss was found to be 259 Np/m, which is higher than the theoretical value. The reason could be that M1 metal is too thin, is only 1.4 times the skin depth of M1 at 460 GHz, and some extra loss from the silicon substrate contributes to the attenuation.



Figure 4.24: (a) M2 layer model from HFSS. The dark squares are holes in M2, which are $10 \mu m \times 10 \mu m$. Vias connecting M1 and M2 are in horizontal rows, which are $3 \mu m \times 3 \mu m$. (b) Both M1 and M2 layers model from HFSS. The white squares are holes in M1, and the dark squares are holes in M2. Both are also $10 \mu m \times 10 \mu m$.

4.5 Conclusion

A design of the 460 GHz SIW slot antenna on 65 nm CMOS process is proposed in this chapter. Some methods are developed to simplify the design and simulation: an inductor identification layer is introduced to reduce the metal density requirements from 10% to 0.7%, an equivalent dielectric layer that accurately models the effects of multiple dielectric layers is investigated to reduce the RAM needed from 752 GB to 21.5 GB for 3D EM simulations, and the top metal layer identified as a bondpad removed some dielectric covering the antenna top. When implemented on a 0.5 mm Si substrate, the proposed antenna has a gain of 0.09 dBi and efficiency of 29.1%. The impedance bandwidth ($S_{11} < -10 dB$) is 25.3 GHz. The ohmic loss is the dominant loss contributor influencing the antenna gain and efficiency. Also, the "dummy" metals and holes in the bottom metal, which are needed to satisfy the design rule requirements, decrease efficiency by 11.7% and gain by 1.4 dB. In the simulation combining M1 and M2 as the bottom metal achieves higher gain and radiation efficiency than using M1 layer only. However, due to design-rule restrictions combining M1 and M2 is not fabricatable.

Chapter 5

Conclusions, Contributions and Future Work

5.1 Thesis Summary

The design of a 460 GHz CMOS SIW slot antenna inspired by the developments of CCAT CHAI is presented in this thesis. This work is not officially part of the CHAI development but may provide alternatives to implementation of CHAI. Chapter 1 introduced the infrared astronomy science, discussed the avalable electromagnetic spectrum for the science, and reviewed some ground-based observatories, such as CCAT CHAI.

Chapter 2 provided literature review and explained the selection of the substrate-integrated waveguide (SIW) slot antenna for this work. Chapter 2 also introduced SIW technology and its operation principles. In addition a brief introduction of slot antennas was given with discussions of the Babinet's Principle and the impedance of a longitudinal slot in the broad wall of a rectangular waveguide.

Chapter 3 presented the design of a 46 GHz SIW slot antenna, which is a down-scaled prototype of the 460 GHz SIW slot antenna. A 46 GHz SIW slot antenna was designed and tested to verify the design concepts, which are identical to that of the 460 GHz SIW slot antenna. The antenna fabricated on PCB was presented in Figure 3.12. The comparisons of the simulated and experimental $S_{11}s$ and radiation patterns were given. There are strong agreements between simulated and measured results, which verified the design and simulations approaches and supported.

Chapter 4 demonstrated the design and simulations of a 65 nm CMOS 460 GHz SIW slot antenna. The chapter started with a discussion of the CMOS process design-rule restrictions, which make the design of SIW slot antenna more complicated than for its 46 GHz PCB counterpart. An inductor identification layer was introduced in the design to minimize the design-rule restrictions, which reduced the "dummy" metal requirements from 10% to 0.7%. The effect of the slot size and its placement on the SIW slot antenna S_{11} were

demonstrated. The final antenna dimensions are given in Table 4.2. The SIW slot antenna simulation results and comparison with other similar antennas are listed in Table 4.3. At the end of the chapter, the loss mechanisms were investigated. The final conclusion was that the metal loss was the most significant contributor to low antenna efficiency with the analysis results presented in Table 4.4.

5.2 Contributions

The 46 GHz SIW slot antenna presented in this thesis :

- Minimized the back lobe by oversizing the bottom ground
- Achieved large gain by properly selecting dimensions of the top metal
- Was published in [29]

The 460 GHz CMOS SIW slot antenna presented in the thesis:

- Introduced an inductor identification layer in the layout to reduce the internal metal density requirements significantly
- Found an equivalent dielectric layer that accurately models the effect of multiple dielectric layers is used to reduce the RAM needed significantly for the 3D EM simulations
- Ran HFSS from command mode remotely on the HPC (High Performance Computer) "Bigbyte" computer and provided the scripts for later user
- Had been submitted to Microwave and Optical Technology Letters

Other published contribution during the author's M.Sc. studies is a joint report [75] coauthored with three other graduate students and faculty members working on various aspects of CCAT CHAI.

5.3 Future Work

This thesis demonstrates the feasibility of using a CMOS technology to implement an antenna operating in the frequency range of the CCAT CHAI. While it is shown that the 460 GHz SIW slot antenna can be fabricated in a 65 nm CMOS process, there are several areas that need improvement and additional examination prior to finalizing the design of the SIW slot antenna.

The first major area relates to the feed of the SIW slot antenna. Currently in the simulation the feed network is a $50 - \Omega$ microstrip and the matching network is a quarter-wave transformer. When connecting the antenna with the CHAI receiver, the signal would come from transistors, which are connected to on M1 metal layer. In this case, the microstrip may not be an optimum choice. A pin in the SIW through a hole of M1 connecting to the transistor may be a better option to excite the antenna. In this case, the antenna will be a SIW cavity-backed slot antenna.

Another major area relates to fabrication and testing of this design. Although the design concept has been proved correctly with a 46GHz SIW slot antenna, it is desirable to test the 460GHz SIW slot antenna directly.

The gain of the proposed SIW slot antenna is not very high and the HPBW is not narrow enough to illuminate CCAT CHAI reflector. Slot arrays therefore should be investigated to increase the gain and narrow the beamwidth.

At last the CMOS design-rules restrictions limit the antenna performance. From the loss test it was determined that ohmic loss is the dominant loss contributor influencing the antenna gain and efficiency. Ways of reducing conductor losses should be investigated. Alternatively, dielectric resonator antennas (DRA) have lower conductor loss [76] and either DRAs or dielectric lens attached to the CMOS slot antenna may be a way of improving efficiency.

Bibliography

- M. Rowan-Robinson, Night Vision: Exploring the Infrared Universe. Cambridge University Press, 2013. (Cited on page 2.)
- [2] W. Herschel, "Investigation of the Powers of the Prismatic Colours to Heat and Illuminate Objects," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*, vol. 90, pp. 255–283, 1800. (*Cited on page 2.*)
- [3] —, "Experiments on the Refrangibility of the Invisible Rays of the Sun," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*, vol. 90, pp. 284–292, 1800.
 (*Cited on page 2.*)
- [4] —, "Experiments on the Solar, and on the Terrestrial Rays That Occasion Heat, Part I and II," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*, vol. 90, p. 293 and 437, 1800. (*Cited on page 2.*)
- [5] K. G. Jansky, "Radio Waves from Outside the Solar System," *Nature*, vol. 132, p. 66, Jul. 1933. (*Cited on page 2.*)
- [6] K. Jansky, "Electrical Disturbances Apparently of Extraterrestrial Origin," *Proceedings of the Institute of Radio Engineers*, vol. 21, no. 10, pp. 1387–1398, Oct 1933.
 (*Cited on page 2.*)
- [7] C. Keller, "X-rays from the Sun," *Experientia*, vol. 51, no. 7, pp. 710–720, 1995. (*Cited on page 2.*)
- [8] F. J. LOW, "Low-Temperature Germanium Bolometer," J. Opt. Soc. Am., vol. 51, no. 11, pp. 1300–1304, Nov 1961. (Cited on page 2.)
- [9] —, "Gallium-Doped Germanium Resistance Thermometers," in Advances in Cryogenic Engineering. Springer, 1962, pp. 514–516. (Cited on page 2.)

- [10] S. J. Radford and M. A. Holdaway, "Atmospheric Conditions at a Site for Submillimeter-Wavelength Astronomy," in *Advanced Technology MMW, Radio, and Terahertz Telescopes*, ser. Society of Photo-Optical Instrumentation Engineers (SPIE) Conference Series, T. G. Phillips, Ed., vol. 3357, Jul. 1998, pp. 486–494. (*Cited on page 2.*)
- [11] J. Ruhl, P. A. R. Ade, J. E. Carlstrom, H.-M. Cho, T. Crawford, M. Dobbs, C. H. Greer, N. w. Halverson, W. L. Holzapfel, T. M. Lanting, A. T. Lee, E. M. Leitch, J. Leong, W. Lu, M. Lueker, J. Mehl, S. S. Meyer, J. J. Mohr, S. Padin, T. Plagge, C. Pryke, M. C. Runyan, D. Schwan, M. K. Sharp, H. Spieler, Z. Staniszewski, and A. A. Stark, "The South Pole Telescope," *Proc. SPIE*, vol. 5498, pp. 11–29, 2004. (*Cited on page 3.*)
- [12] G. Davis and A. Chrysostomou, "Submillimetre Astronomy with the James Clerk Maxwell Telescope," in *IEEE/MTT-S International Microwave Symposium*, June 2007, pp. 1853–1856. (*Cited on page 3.*)
- [13] "The James Clerk Maxwell Telescope," *Journal of the Institution of Electronic and Radio Engineers*, vol. 56, no. 8.9, pp. 276–277, August 1986. (*Cited on page 3.*)
- [14] R. E. Hills and A. J. Beasley, "The Atacama Large Millimeter/submillimeter Array," *Proc. SPIE*, vol. 7012, p. 70120N, 2008. (*Cited on page 3.*)
- [15] A. Wootten and A. Thompson, "The Atacama Large Millimeter/Submillimeter Array," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 97, no. 8, pp. 1463–1471, Aug 2009. (*Cited on page 3.*)
- [16] M. Tarenghi, "The Atacama Large Millimeter/Submillimeter Array: Overview and Status," Astrophysics and Space Science, vol. 313, no. 1-3, pp. 1–7, 2008. (Cited on page 3.)

- [17] R. Gilmozzi and J. Spyromilio, "The European Extremely Large Telescope (E-ELT)," *The Messenger*, vol. 127, no. 11, 2007. (*Cited on page 3.*)
- [18] L. M. Stepp and S. E. Strom, "The Thirty-Meter Telescope Project Design and Development Phase," *Proc. SPIE*, vol. 5382, pp. 67–75, 2004. (*Cited on page 3.*)
- [19] M. Johns, P. McCarthy, K. Raybould, A. Bouchez, A. Farahani, J. Filgueira, G. Jacoby, S. Shectman, and M. Sheehan, "Giant Magellan Telescope: Overview," *Proc. SPIE*, vol. 8444, p. 84441H, 2012. (*Cited on page 3.*)
- [20] D. Woody, S. Padin, E. Chauvin, B. Clavel, G. Cortes, A. Kissil, J. Lou, P. Rasmussen,
 D. Redding, and J. Zolkower, "The CCAT 25m Diameter Submillimeter-Wave Telescope," *Proc. SPIE*, vol. 8444, p. 84442M, 2012. (*Cited on page 3.*)
- [21] G. J. Stacey, S. R. Golwala, C. M. Bradford, C. D. Dowell, G. Cortes-Medellin, T. Nikola, J. Zmuidzinas, T. L. Herter, S. J. Radford, J. P. Lloyd, A. W. Blain, R. L. Brown, D. B. Campbell, R. Giovanelli, P. Goldsmith, P. M. Harvey, C. Henderson, W. D. Langer, T. G. Phillips, A. C. S. Readhead, and D. P. Woody, "Instrumentation for the CCAT Telescope," in *Society of Photo-Optical Instrumentation Engineers (SPIE) Conference Series*, vol. 6275, Jun. 2006, p. 1. *(Cited on pages 4 and 5.)*
- [22] S. J. E. Radford, R. Giovanelli, T. A. Sebring, and J. Zmuidzinas, "CCAT," in *Submillimeter Astrophysics and Technology: a Symposium Honoring Thomas G. Phillips*, ser. Astronomical Society of the Pacific Conference Series, D. C. Lis, J. E. Vaillancourt, P. F. Goldsmith, T. A. Bell, N. Z. Scoville, and J. Zmuidzinas, Eds., vol. 417, Dec. 2009, p. 113. (Cited on pages 4 and 5.)
- [23] S. J. E. Radford, R. Giovanelli, G. E. Gull, and C. P. Henderson, "Submillimeter Observing Conditions on Cerro Chajnantor," vol. 7012, 2008, p. 70121Z. (*Cited on page 4.*)

- [24] G. J. Stacey, S. Parshley, T. Nikola, G. Cortes-Medellin, J. Schoenwald, G. Rajagopalan, M. D. Niemack, T. Jenness, P. Gallardo, B. Koopman, C. D. Dowell, P. K. Day, M. I. Hollister, A. Kovacs, H. G. LeDuc, C. M. McKenney, R. M. Monroe, H. Yoshida, J. Zmuidzinas, L. J. Swenson, S. J. Radford, H. T. Nguyen, A. K. Mroczkowski, J. Glenn, J. Wheeler, P. Maloney, S. Brugger, J. D. Adams, F. Bertoldi, R. Schaaf, M. Halpern, D. Scott, G. Marsden, J. Sayers, S. Chapman, and J. D. Vieira, "SWCam: the Short Wavelength Camera for the CCAT Observatory," *Proc. SPIE*, vol. 9153, p. 91530L, 2014. (*Cited on page 5.*)
- [25] S. R. Golwala, C. C. S. W. Group, C. I. W. Group *et al.*, "The Design and Science Goals of LWCam, the CCAT Long-Wavelength Imager," in *American Astronomical Society Meeting Abstracts # 221*, vol. 221, 2013. (*Cited on page 5.*)
- [26] C. M. Bradford, S. Hailey-Dunsheath, E. Shirokoff, M. Hollister, C. M. McKenney,
 H. G. LeDuc, T. Reck, S. C. Chapman, A. Tikhomirov, T. Nikola, and J. Zmuidzinas,
 "X-Spec: a Multi-Object Trans-Millimeter-Wave Spectrometer for CCAT," vol. 9153,
 2014, p. 91531Y. (*Cited on page 5.*)
- [27] C. S. Team, "The CCAT Project: First Generation Instruments," Poster displayed at the 223rd American Astronomical Society Meeting, Washington, DC, January 2014. (*Cited on page 5.*)
- [28] G. Cortes-Medellin, "Design of High Gain THz Smooth Walled Feed Horns for CCAT Heterodyne Camera," in 39th International Conference on Infrared, Millimeter, and Terahertz waves (IRMMW-THz), Sept 2014, pp. 1–2. (Cited on page 6.)
- [29] H. Xie, L. Belostotski, and M. Okoniewski, "A Q-band High-Gain Substrate-Integrated Waveguide Slot Antenna," *Microwave and Optical Technology Letters*, vol. 57, no. 6, pp. 1370–1374, 2015. (*Cited on pages 6 and 71.*)

- [30] K. Wu, Y. J. Cheng, T. Djerafi, and W. Hong, "Substrate-Integrated Millimeter-Wave and Terahertz Antenna Technology," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 100, no. 7, pp. 2219–2232, July 2012. (*Cited on pages 8 and 12.*)
- [31] A. Shamim, L. Roy, N. Fong, and N. Tarr, "24 GHz On-Chip Antennas and Balun on Bulk Si for Air Transmission," *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 56, no. 2, pp. 303–311, Feb 2008. (*Cited on pages 9 and 11.*)
- [32] Y. Zhang, M. Sun, and L. Guo, "On-Chip Antennas for 60-GHz Radios in Silicon Technology," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 52, no. 7, pp. 1664–1668, July 2005. (*Cited on pages 9 and 11.*)
- [33] S.-S. Hsu, K.-C. Wei, C.-Y. Hsu, and H. Ru-Chuang, "A 60-GHz Millimeter-Wave CPW-Fed Yagi Antenna Fabricated by Using 0.18-μm CMOS Technology," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 625–627, June 2008. (*Cited on pages 9 and 11.*)
- [34] P.-J. Guo and H.-R. Chuang, "A 60-GHz Millimeter-Wave CMOS RFIC-On-Chip Meander-Line Planar Inverted-F Antenna for WPAN Applications," in *IEEE Antennas* and Propagation Society International Symposium (AP-S 2008), July 2008, pp. 1–4. (Cited on pages 9 and 11.)
- [35] B. Pan, Y. Li, G. Ponchak, J. Papapolymerou, and M. Tentzeris, "A 60-GHz CPW-Fed High-Gain and Broadband Integrated Horn Antenna," *IEEE Transactions on Antennas* and Propagation, vol. 57, no. 4, pp. 1050–1056, April 2009. (Cited on pages 9 and 11.)
- [36] K.-K. Huang and D. Wentzloff, "60 GHz On-Chip Patch Antenna Integrated in a 0.13- μm CMOS Technology," in *IEEE International Conference on Ultra-Wideband* (*ICUWB*), vol. 1, Sept 2010, pp. 1–4. (*Cited on pages 9 and 11.*)

- [37] M. Sanduleanu and J. Long, "CMOS Integrated Transceivers for 60 GHz UWB Communication," in *IEEE International Conference on Ultra-Wideband (ICUWB 2007)*, Sept 2007, pp. 508–513. (*Cited on pages 9 and 11.*)
- [38] T. Mitomo, R. Fujimoto, N. Ono, R. Tachibana, H. Hoshino, Y. Yoshihara, Y. Tsutsumi, and I. Seto, "A 60-GHz CMOS Receiver Front-End With Frequency Synthesizer," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 43, no. 4, pp. 1030–1037, April 2008. (*Cited on page 9.*)
- [39] D. Hou, W. Hong, W.-L. Goh, A. Arasu, Y.-Z. Xiong, S. Hu, and M. Madihian, "A D-band On-Chip Dielectric Resonator Antenna Fed by Half-Mode Cavity in CMOS Technology," in *IEEE Asia-Pacific Conference on Antennas and Propagation (AP-CAP)*, Aug 2012, pp. 92–93. (*Cited on pages 10 and 11.*)
- [40] D. Hou, Y.-Z. Xiong, W.-L. Goh, S. Hu, W. Hong, and M. Madihian, "130-GHz On-Chip Meander Slot Antennas With Stacked Dielectric Resonators in Standard CMOS Technology," *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 60, no. 9, pp. 4102–4109, Sept 2012. (*Cited on pages 10 and 11.*)
- [41] J. Guzman, C. Calvez, R. Pilard, F. Gianesello, M. Ney, D. Gloria, and C. Person, "Silicon Integrated Dielectric Resonator Antenna Solution for 60GHz Front-End Modules," in *IEEE 12th Topical Meeting on Silicon Monolithic Integrated Circuits in RF Systems (SiRF)*, Jan 2012, pp. 53–56. (*Cited on page 10.*)
- [42] Y. Gao, Z. Feng, and L. Zhang, "High-Gain Silicon Based On-Chip Dielectric Resonator Antenna at 60 GHz," in *International Conference on Microwave and Millimeter Wave Technology (ICMMT)*, vol. 1, May 2012, pp. 1–4. (*Cited on page 10.*)
- [43] P. Bijumon, A. Freundorfer, M. Sayer, and Y. Antar, "On-Chip Silicon Integrated Cylindrical Dielectric Resonator Antenna for Millimeter Wave Applications," in *In-*107 (2019) 100

ternational Symposium on Signals, Systems and Electronics (ISSSE '07), July 2007, pp. 489–492. (Cited on page 10.)

- [44] J. Edwards and G. Rebeiz, "High-Efficiency Silicon RFIC Millimeter-Wave Elliptical Slot-Antenna with a Quartz Lens," in *IEEE International Symposium on Antennas* and Propagation (APSURSI), July 2011, pp. 899–902. (Cited on pages 10 and 11.)
- [45] S. Nicolson, A. Tomkins, K. Tang, A. Cathelin, D. Belot, and S. Voinigescu, "A 1.2V, 140GHz Receiver With On-Die Antenna In 65nm CMOS," in *IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symposium*, June 2008, pp. 229–232. (*Cited on pages 10 and 11.*)
- [46] Y. Shang, H. Yu, C. Yang, Y. Liang, and W. M. Lim, "A 239-281GHz Sub-THz imager with 100 MHz resolution by CMOS direct-conversion receiver with on-chip circular-polarized SIW antenna," in 2014 IEEE Proceedings of the Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC), Sept 2014, pp. 1–4. (Cited on pages 10, 11 and 65.)
- [47] E. Seok, C. Cao, D. Shim, D. Arenas, D. Tanner, C.-M. Hung, and K. O, "A 410 GHz CMOS Push-Push Oscillator with an On-Chip Patch Antenna," in *IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference, Digest of Technical Papers (ISSCC 2008)*, Feb 2008, pp. 472–629. (*Cited on pages 10, 11 and 65.*)
- [48] S. Hu, Y.-Z. Xiong, B. Zhang, L. Wang, T.-G. Lim, M. Je, and M. Madihian, "A SiGe BiCMOS Transmitter/Receiver Chipset With On-Chip SIW Antennas for Terahertz Applications," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 47, no. 11, pp. 2654–2664, Nov 2012. (*Cited on pages 10, 11 and 65.*)
- [49] W. Steyaert and P. Reynaert, "A 0.54 THz Signal Generator in 40 nm Bulk CMOS With 22 GHz Tuning Range and Integrated Planar Antenna," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 49, no. 7, pp. 1617–1626, July 2014. (*Cited on pages 10, 11 and 65.*)

- [50] S. Pan, D. Wang, and F. Capolino, "Novel High Efficiency CMOS On-Chip Antenna Structures at Millimeter Waves," in *IEEE International Symposium on Antennas and Propagation (APSURSI)*, July 2011, pp. 907–910. (*Cited on page 11.*)
- [51] T. Yao, L. Tchoketch-Kebir, O. Yuryevich, M. Gordon, and S. Voinigescu, "65GHz Doppler Sensor with On-Chip Antenna in 0.18 μm SiGe BiCMOS," in *IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium Digest*, June 2006, pp. 1493–1496. (Cited on page 11.)
- [52] M. Bozzi, A. Georgiadis, and K. Wu, "Review of Substrate-Integrated Waveguide Circuits and Antennas," *IET Microwaves, Antennas Propagation*, vol. 5, no. 8, pp. 909–920, June 2011. (*Cited on page 12.*)
- [53] K. Wu, D. Deslandes, and Y. Cassivi, "The Substrate Integrated Circuits A New Concept for High-Frequency Electronics and Optoelectronics," in 6th International Conference on Telecommunications in Modern Satellite, Cable and Broadcasting Service, 2003, vol. 1, Oct 2003, pp. P–III–P–X vol.1. (Cited on page 12.)
- [54] F. Xu and K. Wu, "Guided-Wave and Leakage Characteristics of Substrate Integrated Waveguide," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 53, no. 1, pp. 66–73, Jan 2005. (*Cited on page 14.*)
- [55] M. Born and E. Wolf, Principles of Optics Electromagnetic Theory of Propagation, Interference and Diffraction of Light, 7th ed. Cambridge University Press, 1999.
 (Cited on page 15.)
- [56] H. Booker, "Slot Aerials and Their Relation to Complementary Wire Aerials (Babinet's Principle)," *Journal of the Institution of Electrical Engineers - Part IIIA: Radiolocation*, vol. 93, no. 4, pp. 620–626, 1946. (*Cited on page 15.*)
- [57] A. F. Stevenson, "Theory of Slots in Rectangular Wave-Guides," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 24–38, Jan 1948. (*Cited on page 18.*)

- [58] A. Oliner, "The Impedance Properties of Narrow Radiating Slots in the Broad Face of Rectangular Waveguide: Part I–Theory," *IRE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 4–11, January 1957. (*Cited on page 18.*)
- [59] M. El-Nawawy, A. Allam, and M. Ghoneima, "Design and Fabrication of W-Band SIW Horn Antenna Using PCB Process," in *1st International Conference on Communications, Signal Processing, and their Applications (ICCSPA)*, Feb 2013, pp. 1–4. (*Cited on pages 20, 21 and 40.*)
- [60] S. Cheng, H. Yousef, and H. Kratz, "79 GHz Slot Antennas Based on Substrate Integrated Waveguides (SIW) in a Flexible Printed Circuit Board," *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 57, no. 1, pp. 64–71, Jan 2009. (*Cited on pages 20,* 21 and 40.)
- [61] Y.-J. Cheng, W. Hong, and K. Wu, "94 GHz Substrate Integrated Monopulse Antenna Array," *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 60, no. 1, pp. 121–129, Jan 2012. (*Cited on pages 20 and 21.*)
- [62] L. Yan, W. Hong, G. Hua, J. Chen, K. Wu, and T.-J. Cui, "Simulation and Experiment on SIW Slot Array Antennas," *IEEE Microwave and Wireless Components Letters*, vol. 14, no. 9, pp. 446–448, Sept 2004. (*Cited on pages 20 and 21.*)
- [63] M. Mbaye, J. Hautcoeur, L. Talbi, and K. Hettak, "Bandwidth Broadening of Dual-Slot Antenna Using Substrate Integrated Waveguide (SIW)," *IEEE Antennas and Wireless Propagation Letters*, vol. 12, pp. 1169–1171, 2013. (*Cited on pages 20, 21 and 40.*)
- [64] H. Wang, D.-G. Fang, B. Zhang, and W.-Q. Che, "Dielectric Loaded Substrate Integrated Waveguide (SIW) H-Plane Horn Antennas," *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 58, no. 3, pp. 640–647, March 2010. (*Cited on pages 20 and 21.*)

- [65] M. Awida, S. Suleiman, and A. Fathy, "Substrate-Integrated Cavity-Backed Patch Arrays: A Low-Cost Approach for Bandwidth Enhancement," *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 59, no. 4, pp. 1155–1163, April 2011. (*Cited on page 21.*)
- [66] D. Stephens, P. Young, and I. Robertson, "W-band Substrate Integrated Waveguide Slot Antenna," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 165–167, Feb 2005. (*Cited on page 20.*)
- [67] J. Liu, D. Jackson, and Y. Long, "Substrate Integrated Waveguide (SIW) Leaky-Wave Antenna With Transverse Slots," *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 60, no. 1, pp. 20–29, Jan 2012. (*Cited on page 21.*)
- [68] A. Farrall and P. Young, "Integrated Waveguide Slot Antennas," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 40, no. 16, pp. 974–975, Aug 2004. (*Cited on page 49.*)
- [69] M. Bailey, "Design of Dielectric-Covered Resonant Slots in a Rectangular Waveguide," *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 594–598, September 1967. (*Cited on page 49.*)
- [70] —, "The Impedance Properties of Dielectric-Covered Narrow Radiating Slots in the Broad Face of a Rectangular Waveguide," *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 596–603, Sep 1970. (*Cited on page 49.*)
- [71] C. A. Balanis, Antenna theory: analysis and design. John Wiley & Sons, 2005, vol. 1. (Cited on page 49.)
- [72] P. Rizzi, *Microwave Engineering: Passive Circuits*, ser. Passive Circuits. Prentice Hall, 1988. (*Cited on page 52.*)
- [73] D. M. Pozar, *Microwave engineering*, 4th ed. John Wiley & Sons, 2012. (*Cited on pages 52 and 67.*)

- [74] A. Ludwig, "The Definition of Cross Polarization," *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 116–119, Jan 1973. (*Cited on page 59.*)
- [75] E. Zailer, H. Xie, N. Zhang, R. Plume, L. Belostotski, and M. Okoniewski, "University of Calgary Participation in CCAT CHAI Development," in *Proc. of IEEE International Symposium on Antennas and Propagation*, July 2015, pp. 1–2. (*Cited on page 71.*)
- [76] A. Petosa and A. Ittipiboon, "Dielectric Resonator Antennas: A Historical Review and the Current State of the Art," *IEEE Antennas and Propagation Magazine*, vol. 52, no. 5, pp. 91–116, Oct 2010. (*Cited on page 72.*)

Appendix A

Summary of Dominant Mode (TE $_{10}$) of the Rectangular Waveguide

The electric field and magnetic field lines of TE_{10} mode for a rectangular waveguide with a width of *w* and height of *h* are shown in Figure A.1. In addition, Table A.1 lists summary of TE_{10} mode results for a rectangular waveguide.

From equations listed in the Table A.1 and the relationship between the frequency and the wavelength, $\omega = 2\pi f = 2\pi \frac{c}{\lambda}$, Equation 4.3 can be obtained.

Quantity Name	Equation				
z component of magnetic field	$H_z = A_{10} \cos \frac{\pi x}{w} e^{-j\beta z}$				
x component of magnetic field	$H_x = \frac{j\beta w}{\pi} A_{10} \sin \frac{\pi x}{w} e^{-j\beta z}$				
y component of electric field	$E_y = \frac{-j\omega\mu w}{\pi} A_{10} \sin\frac{\pi x}{w} e^{-j\beta z}$				
Other components of E , H field	$E_x = E_z = H_y = 0$				
Cutoff frequency	$f_{c_{10}} = \frac{1}{2w\sqrt{\mu\varepsilon}}$				
Guide wavelength	$\lambda_g = rac{2\pi}{eta}$				
Propagation constant	$eta=\sqrt{k^2-k_c^2}$				
Wave number	$k = \omega \sqrt{\mu \varepsilon}$				
Cutoff wave number	$k_c = \frac{\pi}{w}$				
Wave impedance	$Z_{TE} = \frac{k\eta}{\beta}$				
Intrinsic impedance of the dielectric in the waveguide	$\eta=\sqrt{rac{\mu}{arepsilon}}$				
Maximum power	$P_{max} = \frac{E_{max}^2 w h \sqrt{\varepsilon_r}}{480\pi} \sqrt{1 - \left(\frac{\lambda_0}{2w\sqrt{\varepsilon_r}}\right)^2}$				
Attenuation (dB/m)*	$\alpha = \frac{8.686R_s}{120\pi h} \frac{1 + \frac{2h}{w} \left(\frac{\lambda}{2w}\right)^2}{\sqrt{1 - \left(\frac{\lambda}{2w}\right)^2}}$				
Characteristic impedance power-current definition	$Z_{pi} = 465 rac{h}{w} \sqrt{rac{\mu_r}{arepsilon_r}} rac{\lambda_g}{\lambda}$				
Characteristic impedance power-voltage definition	$Z_{pv} = 754 rac{h}{w} \sqrt{rac{\mu_r}{arepsilon_r}} rac{\lambda_g}{\lambda}$				
Characteristic impedance voltage-current definition	$Z_{vi} = 592 rac{h}{w} \sqrt{rac{\mu_r}{arepsilon_r}} rac{\lambda_g}{\lambda}$				
* R_s is the skin depth of the metal. $R_s = \sqrt{\frac{\omega\mu}{2\sigma}}$					

Table A.1: Summary of TE_{10} mode for rectangular waveguide.



(a)



Figure A.1: (a) Field lines for TE_{10} mode of a rectangular waveguide. (b) Surface currents for TE_{10} mode of a rectangular waveguide.